
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Agenda 

 

Thursday, 25 June 2015 
7.00 pm, 
Committee Room 2 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  Timothy Andrew (02083147916) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 21 April 2015 

 
1 - 6 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

7 - 10 

3.   Response from Mayor and Cabinet on matters raised by the 
Committee 
 

11 - 12 

4.   Transition from children's to adult services 
 

13 - 20 

5.   Healthwatch annual report 2014-15 
 

21 - 44 

6.   Day centres consultation 
To follow 
 

 

7.   Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account 2014-15 
 

45 - 116 

8.   Select Committee work programme 
 

117 - 134 

9.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Thursday, 25 June 2015.   
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
Tuesday, 16 June 2015 
 
  

Councillor John Muldoon (Chair)  

Councillor Stella Jeffrey (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Paul Bell  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Ami Ibitson  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor Pat Raven  

Councillor Joan Reid  

Councillor Alan Till  

Councillor Susan Wise  

Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)  

  



 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES SELECT 
COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, 21 April 2015 at 7.00 pm 
 

Present:  Councillors John Muldoon (Chair), Stella Jeffrey (Vice-Chair), Paul Bell, 
Colin Elliott, Jacq Paschoud, Pat Raven, Joan Reid and Alan Till  
 
Apologies: Councillors Ami Ibitson and Susan Wise 
 
Also present: Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny Manager), Dee Carlin (Head of Joint 
Commissioning) (LCCG/LBL), Helen Kelsall (Service Manager, Inpatient Care) (South 
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust), Charles Malcolm-Smith (Deputy Director, 
Strategy & Organisational Development) (Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group) and 
David Norman (Service Director, Older Adults) (South London and Maudsley NHS 
Foundation Trust) 
 
1. Confirmation of the Chair and Vice-Chair 

 
1.1 Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny Manager) opened the meeting and invited the 

Committee to agree the outcome of the Council’s annual general meeting on 26 
March, confirming Councillor Muldoon as Chair of the Committee and Councillor 
Jeffrey as Vice-Chair of the Committee. 
 
Resolved: to agree Councillor Muldoon as Chair and Councillor Jeffrey as Vice-
Chair of the Committee. 
 

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 24 February 2015 
 

2.1 Members noted that they had thanked Val Fulcher for her significant contribution 
Committee. The Chair requested that this amendment be noted. 
 
Resolved: that subject to the amendment discussed, the minutes be agreed as a 
true record. 
 

3. Declarations of interest 
 
Councillor Bell - non-prejudicial – member of King’s College Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
Councillor Muldoon – non-prejudicial- lead governor of SLaM NHS Foundation 
Trust 
Councillor Paschoud - non-prejudicial - family member in receipt of a package of 
social care. 
Councillor Raven - non-prejudicial - family member in receipt of a package of 
social care. 
 

4. Select Committee work programme 2015/16 
 
This item was considered after item five. 
 

4.1 Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the work programme report. The 
Committee then discussed the work programme; the following key points were 
noted:  
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



• Members were interested in scrutinising the outcome of the consultation about 
day centres. Following discussion at previous meetings, the Committee was 
particularly interested in the potential loss of transport provision to MENCAP’s 
evening club provision. 

• It was agreed that the day centres consultation paper would be placed on the 
work programme for pre-decision scrutiny. 

• The Committee also talked about the agenda item relating to the development 
of the market for adult social care services. Members indicated that they were 
interested to find out about the levels of pay for care workers. 

• The Committee agreed to scrutinise the public health annual report when it 
became available. 

• It was agreed that an item would be added to the Committee’s work 
programme to review the implementation of the Health and Wellbeing strategy 
in the autumn. 

• Members discussed the suggestion of adding an item on transition from 
children’s to adult’s social care. It was agreed that because of the cross over 
with the terms of reference of the Children and Young People select 
committee, the issue would be referred to Business Panel for discussion. 

• It was agreed that information would be requested during the course of the 
year from the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS trust as issues arose – alongside 
the regular update on the Trust improvement plan. 

• It was noted that the Committee had been invited to visit Kings College 
Hospital. 

• The Chair informed Members that a proposal had been put forward to carry out 
a review of issues relating to patients who did not attend their appointments. 
Charles Malcolm-Smith (Lewisham CCG) informed the Committee that 
Lewisham was not seen as an outlier in regards to availability of appointments 
– and that information about patients who did not attend appointments was not 
routinely collected, which would limit the effectiveness of a review of this issue. 

• The Committee also discussed the options for reviewing the letting of CCG 
contracts. Charles Malcolm-Smith (Lewisham CCG) informed the Committee 
that a register of CCG contracts was available on the Group’s website. 
Members noted their concerns about increasing privatisation of the NHS. It was 
agreed that an item on the CCG commissioning intentions would be brought to 
the Committee in October. 

• The Committee discussed the idea of carrying out a review of complaints 
management by the NHS and agreed it would not take the idea forward. 

• The Committee also discussed the idea of carrying out a review of vitamin D 
supplementation. It was agreed that further information would be provided to 
the Committee about existing work in this area. 

 
Resolved: to agree the additions and changes to the work programme as 
discussed and to submit the programme to business panel. 
 

5. SLaM specialist care changes consultation 
 
This item was considered before item four. 
 
Councillor Muldoon declared a prejudicial interest in the item and withdrew from 
the meeting. Councillor Jeffrey assumed the Chair. 
 

5.1 David Norman (Service Director, Mental Health of Older Adults & Dementia 
Clinical Academic Group) introduced the report; the following key points were 
noted: 
 

Page 2



• Two reports had been provided to the Committee. Firstly, an interim report, 
which outlined the consultation process and secondly a full report, which 
provided additional details about the responses received for the consultation. 

• The patients in the centre had been involved in the consultation process. 

• Relatives were most closely involved in the consultation. The other main group 
of stakeholders included organisations such as Healthwatch, Age UK and the 
Alzheimer’s society. 

• The individual implications and repercussions of the changes had been 
discussed with family members. 

• Relatives wanted to understand the reasons for the changes being proposed 
and they had expressed concerns about the future of specialist provision. 

• There were concerns about the financial implications of the changes. 

• The low levels of current demand created additional cost pressures because of 
under-occupation of the centre. 

• The national rates of dementia diagnosis had been raised a number of times 
during the consultation. 

• The response from Healthwatch also highlighted the concern that rates of 
dementia appeared to be increasing but that specialist services were being 
reduced. 

• There had been a reduction in demand for specialist dementia services in 
Lewisham. This was the result of changes in medical practice, increased 
awareness and improved diagnosis, referral and management of dementia. 

• Savings generated from the proposed changes to specialist services would be 
reinvested into other services.  

• SLaM had committed to working with individuals to meet their care needs. 

• The remit of Inglemere was to provide treatment for people with severe 
symptoms. 

• Whilst there was increased awareness and diagnosis of dementia, people with 
the most severe symptoms made up only a small number of cases. 

• The Clinical Commissioning Group had an experienced clinical team to support 
the transition process; SLaM also had access to high level support placements 
to support patient’s needs, if required. 

 
5.2 David Norman (Service Director, Mental Health of Older Adults & Dementia 

Clinical Academic Group), Helen Kelsall (Service Manager, Inpatient Care) and 
Dee Carlin (Head of Joint Commissioning) responded to questions from the 
Committee and the following key points were noted: 
 

• Private sector care provision was regulated by the Care Quality Commission 
through a stringent process of announced and unannounced inspections as 
well as reactive interventions based on safeguarding concerns. 

• Places in private sector provision were often well resourced and had staff with 
the appropriate skill mix to ensure that people could be supported in the care 
home environment. 

• In many cases, care homes had become people’s homes – and were more 
suitable and familiar places for them to be supported, rather than as patients in 
specialist facilities. 

• 70 people were under the care of specialist teams in care settings in 
Lewisham. 

• Seven people were in the unit at present. 

• One resident had been at the centre for seven years – three others had been 
there for three years. 

• Some patients in Inglemere might still need specialist provision if the decision 
to close the centre was taken. 

• Access to specialist provision would remain available to those who needed it. Page 3



• None of the residents fully supported the closure. 

• Some had mixed views about the proposed closure – but would take the 
opportunity of any change to move closer to their families. 

• All seven current residents would have their future care needs funded by the 
NHS or adult social care services. 

• Inglemere was a specialist care facility that operated like an inpatient ward, 
rather than a care home. 

• A care home was a person’s home. Therefore, SLaM was working to further 
develop ‘in-reach’ into facilities so patients could remain in their environments 
and avoid admission. 

• Admitting a person to hospital for dementia could be a disorienting experience. 

• Information about dementia had become more widely available – however, 
early identification, treatments and management of dementia had improved.  

• There was less demand for services to deal with severe problems associated 
with dementia. 

• The decline in demand for high level services had not been created by an 
artificial change in thresholds. 

• SLaM did not want to run a half empty unit. The lack of demand meant that it 
was difficult to sustain the service for this small number of people. This also 
made it an increasingly difficult environment for patients to live in. 

• It has always been recognised that people in the unit might need to be 
reassessed and that their reassessed physical health needs might be greater 
than their mental health needs. 

• Dementia was a syndrome with a range of symptoms which could manifest in a 
range of different ways. 

• Inglemere was not a nursing home facility. It was designed and staffed to 
provide clinical support. The skills of the staff at the centre were in stabilising 
people with acute problems. 

• It was unusual for challenging behaviour to last for a prolonged period, which 
would require specialist intervention. The majority of patients either recovered 
or their condition significantly degenerated.  

• The decision about the future of the centre would be taken by the Trust Board 
on 28 April. 

• If the Board decided to go ahead with the closure, plans would be put in place 
to move residents; the process would not be rushed.  

• If the Trust Board agreed to the closure of the centre the building would be 
declared as surplus to requirements. As a public asset, there would be a 
procedure to be followed before the building could be disposed of. 

 
5.3 After discussing the issues at length the Committee highlighted a range of 

concerns including: 
 

• The concern that the consultation appeared to be a foregone conclusion. 

• The apparent disparity between the public perception that dementia was 
increasing- and the closure of a specialist dementia care service. 

• The future of specialist provision in Lewisham and across the South East 
London Area. 

• The role of the private sector in delivering services to vulnerable people. 
 

5.4 The Committee resolved to share its views with the SLaM Trust Board, as follows:  
 

• Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are concerned that 
the implications of the cumulative impact of the loss of this specialist function 
have not been fully considered. 

Page 4



• Members believe that the consultation responses, bar one, have not been duly 
considered and that the concerns expressed about the proposals are not 
accurately reflected in the recommendation to the Trust Board. Members are of 
the opinion that this undermines the process of consultation. 

• Members are also of the opinion that there has been not been a proper 
analysis of the reason behind the decline in the demand for the specialist 
service and that this should be taken into consideration before the proposal is 
approved. 

• Members of the Committee do not support the recommendation to close the 
Inglemere Specialist Care Unit and ask that, when making its decision, the 
Trust Board takes the Committee’s views into consideration. Members also ask 
the Trust Board to ensure that a response is provided to the Committee about 
its concerns. 

• The Committee did not accept the case for the closure of Inglemere. 
 
Resolved: to submit the Committee’s views to the Trust Board of the South 
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

6. Health and social care integration update 
 

6.1 Dee Carlin (Head of Joint Commissioning, LCCG/LBL) introduced the report, the 
following key points were noted: 
 

• The health and social care integration programme was moving forward. The 
programme was developing neighbourhood teams and increased 
neighbourhood working. 

• The programme was aligned with other changes in the delivery of health 
services. 

 
6.2 Dee Carlin (Head of Joint Commissioning, LCCG/LBL) responded to questions 

from the Committee, the following key points were noted: 
 

• The Care Act had an advocacy requirement. In Lewisham this was being 
provided by Voiceability. 

• A range of partners were working in the Local Care Networks. This information 
could be provided to the Committee. 

• Community Connections had been funded through the Main Grants 
programme’s investment fund; the service was designed to support people who 
might not meet the threshold for adult social care services. 

 
6.3 The Committee agreed to share its views with Mayor and Cabinet, as follows: 

 

• Having received a report about health and social care integration, the 
Committee acknowledges the value of work by Community Connections and is 
concerned that it is not receiving core funding. The Community Connections 
service in Lewisham has as its priorities ‘Five Ways to Wellbeing’. It provides 
interventions for adults who do not meet the eligibility criteria to receive care 
services from the Council. As such, its health and wellbeing focus is 
preventative in nature. 

• The Committee recommends that Mayor and Cabinet give serious 
consideration, when re-investing public health savings, to providing core 
funding for Community Connections. 

 
Resolved: to refer the Committee’s views to Mayor and Cabinet as agreed. 
 
 Page 5



7. Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 
Resolved: to refer the Committee’s views under item five with the Trust Board of 
the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and the Committee’s 
views under item six to Mayor and Cabinet. 
 
The meeting ended at 9.10 pm 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 6



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item  2 

Class Part 1 (open) 25 June 2015 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in 
the borough;  

(b) and either 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 7



(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion 
or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not 
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event 
before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the 
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from 
the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or 
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and 
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the 
meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is 
considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the 
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies. 

 

Page 8



(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so 
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the 
public interest. If so, the member must withdraw and take no part in 
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, 

their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the 
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of 
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 

judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the 
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are 
a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Comments of Mayor and Cabinet on matters referred by the Select Committee 

Contributors Head of Business and Committee Item  3 

Class Part 1 (open) 25 June 2015 

 
1. Purpose of the report 

 
This report informs Members of the response given at Mayor and Cabinet to a referral 
by the Committee following discussions held on the officer report Health and Social 
Care Integration, which was considered at the Committee’s meeting on 21 April 2015. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that: 
 

The Committee receives the Mayoral response to its recommendation. 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 At its meeting on 21 April 2015, the Committee considered a report by officers on the 

integration of health and social care. Following discussion, it resolved to refer its views 
to Mayor and Cabinet, as follows: 

 
‘Having received a report about health and social care integration, the Committee 
acknowledges the value of work by Community Connections and is concerned that it is 
not receiving core funding. The Community Connections service in Lewisham has as 
its priorities “Five Ways to Wellbeing”. It provides interventions for adults who do not 
meet the eligibility criteria to receive care services from the Council. As such, its health 
and wellbeing focus is preventative in nature. 
 
The Committee recommends that Mayor and Cabinet give serious consideration, when 
re-investing public health savings, to providing core funding for Community 
Connections.’ 

 
4. Mayoral response 
 
4.1 The record of the meeting of Mayor and Cabinet held on 13 May 2015 is as follows: 
 

‘Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Chair of the Select 
Committee, Councillor John Muldoon, the Mayor agreed that the views of the Healthier 
Communities Select Committee be received and the Select Committee be informed 
core funding would be provided for Community Connections.’ 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 11



Background papers 
 

Healthier Communities Select Committee minutes  
Mayor and Cabinet minutes 13 May 2015 http://tinyurl.com/pb7chg6  
 
If you have any queries about this report, please contact Kevin Flaherty, Business and 
Committee Manager, 0208 314 9327 

Page 12



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title 
Preparing for Adulthood: Transition from Children’s to Adult 
Services 

Contributor 

Executive Director for Community Services, 
Executive Director for Children and Young People, 
Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, 
Head of Law 

Item 4 

Class Part 1(open) 25 June 2015 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This report provides Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee with 

a summary of the key issues and the future plans that are being developed to 
support young people with special educational needs and disabilities from Children 
and Young People’s services to Adult Social Care in preparation for adulthood.  

 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are asked to note the 

contents of the report. 
 
3. Policy Context 
 
3.1 Both the Children and Families Act 2014 and the Care Act 2014 acknowledge the 

importance of providing timely information, guidance and appropriate support to 
young people with special educational needs and disabilities and their families in 
preparation for adulthood. 

 
3.2 These two pieces of legislation provide a context in which children’s and adults 

multiagency services can work collaboratively to ensure that young people and their 
families are supported to exercise greater individual choice and control in planning 
and preparing for their future into adult life 

 
3.3 The Children and Families Act 2014 requires and promotes the importance of early 

intervention and integrated planning across Adults and Children Services.  The 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities SEND Reform introduces a new 
approach which seeks to join up support across education health and care from 
‘birth to 25 years.  The implementation of Education, Health and Care plan (EHC) 
replaces both the Statement of Special Educational Needs for children and young 
people and the Learning Difficulty Assessment. 

 
3.4 The principles which underpin the Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND 

Code of Practice for 0-25 years gives recognition to the importance of planning with 
young people and their families rather than planning for them at both an individual 
and  strategic level.  The new system requires a joined up approach including co 
production, holistic planning and multi-agency working. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 13



3.5 The Care Act 2014 places a duty on local authorities to conduct transition 
assessments for children, children’s carers and young carers where there is a likely 
need for care and support after the child in question turns 18.  As in all 
assessments, local authorities need to consider the needs of the person, what 
needs they are likely to have when they (or the child they care for) become 18, and 
the outcomes they want to achieve in life.  Consideration should also be given as to 
what types of adult care and support might be of benefit at that point, and whether 
other options beyond formal services might help the individual achieve their desired 
outcomes. 

 
4. Background  
 
4.1 The Children with Complex Needs team currently support 552 young people aged 

14 to 18 with a Statement of Educational Need or Education Health and Care Plan.  
Many of the young people known to the Children with Complex Needs Service do 
not require nor would be eligible for care and support via Adult Social Care.  This 
cohort of SEND young people and their families currently require appropriate 
professional guidance and signposting to information or support which will enable 
them to meet their individual needs and life outcomes as they move towards greater 
independence and adult life.  

 
4.2 Within the Children with Complex Needs Service there are approximately 121 of the 

552 cohort of young people aged 14 to 18 who are in receipt of specialist short 
breaks support who are likely to meet the criteria for support from adult services 
when they turn 18. 
 

4.3 The early identification of young people likely to be in need of care and support as 
an adult can effectively begin when children and adult services work together to 
identify solutions for specific individuals, by building on their aspirations, strengths 
and what they do well, so that support that enables this can be put in place. 

 
4.4 The Children with Complex Needs team currently coordinates quarterly meetings 

between children and adult services where representatives from the teams within 
the Children with Complex Needs Service provide a comprehensive data and 
costing on the young people aged 14-18 who may require support from Adult Social 
Care once they become 18. 

 
How the process currently works 

 
4.5 The social workers within the Children with Complex Needs Team currently have 

individual case responsibility to ensure young people on their allocated caseloads 
are referred for an assessment to the adult intake team when the young person 
reaches 17 years old to support a timely and smooth transition. 

 
4.6 Data on all young people with SEND aged 14 -18 is collated and shared between 

children and adult services to support adults services plan provision for young 
people who may be eligible for adult services and support.  Regular quarterly 
transition meetings are held with children and adult services to enable early 
identification and the planning of provision for those children with high level support 
needs who may require services support once they turn 18 years old. 

 

Page 14



4.7 As part of the SEND reform programme the multiagency Preparing for Adulthood 
Steering Group meets monthly to develop and implement the PFA action plan in 
line with the Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice. 

 
4.8 In April 2014 an information event, ‘My Life My Future – Preparing for Adulthood’ 

was held at Lewisham College in partnership with the Children with Complex Needs 
Team, Contact a Family and Lewisham Parent Carer Forum.  There were over 30 
stalls and 15 presentations throughout the day providing young people with advice 
and information on all aspects of preparing for adulthood in Lewisham.  Over 300 
young people and parent / carers attended the event. 

 
4.9 Working with young people aged 14 upwards should therefore be aimed at 

supporting a young person moving into further training, employment and adult life in 
such a way as to promote their independence and reduce their long term needs for 
care and support. 

 
4.10 This situation can particularly present a challenge for social workers within adult 

services who may encounter a situation in which decisions about future options 
regarding the most desirable future provision have already been considered prior to 
the first meeting.  In this instance, social workers may be viewed by families as a 
gatekeeper to funding rather than an ‘enabler’ regarding the best options for 
meeting the needs of the young person.  Families may have received incorrect or 
conflicting information in the past about Adult services, and therefore may have 
already developed their own views about future prospects prior to any meeting with 
professionals. 
 

4.11 Historically, there has been a further tension built into the process where, 
approaching the point of leaving school, the secondary education provider who has 
most direct contact with the young people and their family has encouraged an 
expectation of a ‘right’ to tertiary (and often residential tertiary) education options.  
In the past year Children’s Services have been actively challenging this pathway 
and working with local day college providers to promote young people staying at 
home or returning there, and also being clearer and more ‘critical’ about what 
educational outcomes are being sought through education at all.  The importance of 
this for young vulnerable people is that once they go out of borough they seldom 
return.  A recent audit showed that 77% of young people aged between 19 and 30 
in out of borough residential placements had been placed directly from out of 
borough schools or colleges. 

 
Future Plans and recommendations for preparing for adulthood 

 
4.12 In order to meet the requirements of the new legislations senior managers in 

Children’s and Adult services are interested in scoping different practice models for, 
preparing for adulthood and transition services.  The aim is to ensure Lewisham 
Council seek a model that is best placed to promote and deliver better outcomes for 
young people preparing for adult life.  Senior managers have undertaken an initial 
benchmark exercise with Newham, Hillingdon, Havering and Redbridge local 
authorities.  The initial scoping exercise highlighted varying approaches and varying 
challenges and priorities Lewisham Council will need to consider in service and 
pathway planning for young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
preparing for adulthood. 
 

Page 15



4.13 One of the options could be to bring resources together from across Children’s and 
Adult services in order to establish a strong pathway and protocol which promotes 
effective working relationships with young people with special educational needs 
and their families and multiagency partners. 
 

4.14 The new service delivery model will aspire to establish a robust governance and 
practice arrangements that will ensure: 

 

• Early identification - The Local Authority in partnership with school settings 
will be able to utilise annual reviews from Year 9 onwards to discuss and 
plan with young people and their families after they leave school.  The care 
co-ordination model will effectively offer early intervention and care 
coordination specifically to young people who are likely to have care and 
support needs as an adult and plan and support for the future 

 

• That young people with SEND are supported to have high aspirations and 
ambitions about their futures.  

 

• Information, Advice and Support is made available in an accessible and 
timely way to enable young people and their families have the appropriate 
level of guidance and support to make informed choices about planning for 
adult life.  The following key areas are addressed: 

 
- Education, training and employment opportunities 
- Independent Living 
- Community engagement and inclusion  
- Health and wellbeing 

 

• The Service should utilise varied data to inform better decision making and 
projections to assist commissioning priorities and service development for 
14-25 year olds. 

 

• The early identification of young people with significant support needs is 
embedding person-centred planning. This is supported through the 
Education, Health and Care conversion annual reviews at Year 9. 

 

• The duty to consider whether a child is likely to have care and support needs 
after becoming 18 and to provide relevant advice and information about 
meeting or reducing these needs. 

 

• For those young people not in education, care plan coordination will be 
embedded in practice. 

 

• To ensure that a young person’s long term care planning does not end at 
age 22, 23, 24 or 25 when they leave education, and therefore consideration 
will be given to post-education health and care (housing and employment) 
needs and outcomes at all points of the planning pathway so that it can be 
used as a positive springboard into adult life 

 

• The decision making protocol and funding allocation for educational 
placements and care support is further refined so that there is clarity 
regarding expectations on all partners 

Page 16



 

• Provisions are made in the early stages of planning to assist young people 
and their carers to utilise self-directed support and a personal budget where 
they are eligible 

 

• That adequate and appropriate provision is developed locally to support 
young people to remain in their local community 

 

•  Joint commissioning and planning arrangements to respond from 14 
onwards to promote the development of independence and key life skills in 
preparation for adult life 

 
5. Financial Implications 

 
5.1 The new service delivery model will be established by using existing resources from 

both children’s and adult services staffing budgets.  The annual cost pressure 
associated with transitions will be reduced as services are commissioned more 
locally to meet the needs of young people with complex needs who are preparing 
for adulthood. 

 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 The Care Act 2014 creates a new structure for the assessment and provision of 

care services, encompassing a new approach (also provided for in the Children and 
Families Act 2014) for child carers and providing for more continuity through the 
transition, if eligible, of a young person from children’s to adult services.  There are 
also new general duties to promote the wellbeing of the individual in the community, 
and to prevent the need for escalating care and support, by the provision of 
signposting to relevant services, information and, when considering the delivery of 
many universal services across the Borough, whether as part of our duties as the 
Local Authority or in conjunction with Health and other services. 

 
6.2 The particular paragraphs relevant to the transition from children’s to adult services 

are found at paragraphs 58-66.  The Local Authority must undertake a Child in 
Need assessment following a request from a parent / carer of a child.  Having 
completed an assessment, where it appears that the child is likely to have the same 
needs at 18 the authority may assess: 

 
a) What the child’s needs for care and support are, and 
b) What they are likely to be when the child becomes 18. 

 
6.3 A Local Authority can carry out an assessment even if the child lacks the capacity to 

consent, if to do so would be in the child’s best interests. 
 
6.4 A local authority which decides not to comply with a request to undertake an 

assessment must give the person who made the request its written reasons for its 
refusal. 

 
6.5 A child’s needs assessment must include an assessment of: 
 

a) The outcomes that the child wishes to achieve in day-to-day life, and 

Page 17



b) Whether, or to what extent, the provision of care and support could 
contribute to the achievement of those outcomes. 
 

6.6 In carrying out a child’s needs assessment a Local Authority must, so far as it is 
feasible to do so, consult: 

 
a) The child 
b) The child’s parents and any carer that the child has, and 
c) Any person whom the child or a parent or carer of the child requests the local 

authority to consult. 
 

6.7 Where a person to whom a child’s needs assessment relates becomes 18, the 
authority must decide whether to treat the child’s needs assessment as a needs 
assessment for adult services.  They must consider when the assessment was 
completed, and whether            there have been any changes of circumstances 
since becoming 18. 

 
6.8 S17 Children Act 1989 is amended by s66 Care Act and there is a requirement to 

continue s17 services past 18 until a Care Act assessment is completed.  There is a 
similar provision for CSDPA1970 s2 services. 

 
6.9 There are wider duties imposed by the Care Act towards children with whom the 

Local Authority are not necessarily directly engaged, for example, children receiving 
CAMHS support, involved with Youth Justice, or those with Autism hitherto within 
the education service only. If there is a significant benefit of such a child receiving a 
transition plan then there is a duty to prepare one.  It is therefore important to 
identify such young people and to determine whether a plan would be in their 
interests. 

 
7. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
7.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 The arrangements the Council puts in place to support children with educational 

needs and/or complex disabilities are designed to maximise the opportunities and 
life chances for our more vulnerable adults. 

 
8.2 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
8.3 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 

the need to: 
 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act; 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not; 

Page 18



• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
8.4 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is 

a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. 
It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

 
8.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical 

Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled 
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of 
Practice”.  The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates 
to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the 
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do 
to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless 
regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of 
evidential value. The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-
codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/ 

 
8.6 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 

guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  
 

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  
3. Engagement and the equality duty 
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty 
5. Equality information and the equality duty 

 
8.7 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 

including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further 
information and resources are available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-
duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/ 

 
9. Conclusion 
 
9.1 The reforms to legislation potentially provide the opportunity for local authorities to 

get a much better deal for some of the most vulnerable children and young people 
and help them to aspire and succeed in education, work and life as an adult.  In 
working within the area of transition to adult services one of the key challenges for 
the local authority arises from the separation between services for adults and 
children.  Therefore, developing a service model that brings resources together to 
work proactively with young people and their families to prepare and plan for 
adulthood at an earlier stage is essential.   

 
 

Page 19



If there are any queries on this report please contact Joan Hutton, Head of Adult 
Social Care on 020 8314 8364 or by email at joan.hutton@lewisham.gov.uk  

Page 20



 

Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee 

Title Healthwatch annual report 2014-15 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 5 

Class Part 1(open) 25 June 2015 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The Lewisham Healthwatch 2014-15 annual report is attached. 
 
2.  Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to: 
 

• Note the annual report and direct any questions to representatives of 
Healthwatch at the meeting on 25 June. 

 
For further information please contact Timothy Andrew, Scrutiny Manager on 
02083147916. 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Healthwatch Lewisham  

 

 

Annual Report 

2014/15 

Page 23



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  2 

 Contents 

Introduction 

 

 3 

About Healthwatch 

 

 4 

Engaging with people who use health and social care services 

 

 6 

Providing information and signposting  

 

 9 

Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

 

 11 

Impact Stories 

 

 15 

Our plans for 2015/16 

 

 17 

Our governance and decision-making 

 

 18 

Financial information 

 

 19 

Contact us  20 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  3 

Introduction 

 

Welcome to the second Annual 

Report from Healthwatch Lewisham. 

This year our community engagement 

team worked on several priority themes, 

identified by local people, to enable our 

local voice to shape local services. These 

included enablement, mental health 

services, integrated care, and access to 

primary care. Within these themes our 

team has engaged with a wide range of 

people in the community, including older 

people, young people and families, and 

those communities whose voice is less well 

heard. 

We have engaged with older people to 

better understand their experience of 

health and social care provision. We have 

gathered views and experiences of health 

and social care services for children and 

young people by working closely with 

other local organisations including local 

Children's Centres. Our Enter and View 

activities have been vital to understanding 

the experiences of people whose voice is 

not so well heard. This year these 

activities focused on mental health and 

those with learning disabilities. 

Healthwatch Lewisham takes a committed 

partnership and collaborative approach. 

We have engaged with the wider 

community and voluntary sector 

throughout the year at the Health and 

Social Care Forum where we facilitated 

discussions and gathered feedback on 

services relating to our priorities. 

Healthwatch Lewisham has continued to 

develop links with the Lewisham 

Connections project, and is a member of 

the Lewisham Connections Steering Group. 

We have been an active partner in 

Lewisham’s bid for the Fulfilling Lives: 

HeadStart Programme, a Big Lottery 

funded partnership initiative to improve 

the mental health and resilience of young 

people aged 10 – 14 years in the borough. 

Healthwatch Lewisham is proud to be a 

national award winner for our 

collaborative working. The Lewisham team 

and volunteers, along with five other 

south London Healthwatches, won the 

award for Outstanding Collaborative 

Project at the national Healthwatch 

Network Awards of Achievement 2014.  

In this time of rapid change in health and 

social care, the role of Healthwatch is 

ever more important to ensure that the 

experiences and views of local people are 

at the heart of local decision making. 

Healthwatch Lewisham will continue work 

to strengthen local engagement and build 

a strong and supportive local Healthwatch 

network during the coming year. 

We hope you enjoy reading the outcomes 

and achievements of Healthwatch 

Lewisham, and look forward to your 

continuing support. 

  

 

 

Page 25



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  4 

About Healthwatch 

We are here to make health and 

social care better for ordinary people 

and believe that the best way to do 

this is by designing local services 

around their needs and experiences.  

Everything we say and do is informed by 

our connections to local people and our 

expertise is grounded in their experience.  

We are uniquely placed as a network, with 

a local Healthwatch in every local 

authority area in England.  

Our role is to ensure that local health and 

social care services, and the local decision 

makers, put the experiences of people at 

the heart of their care. 

 

Our mission  

Healthwatch Lewisham will enable people, 

communities and organisations in 

Lewisham to have a say and influence the 

planning, commissioning and delivery of 

health and social care services to improve 

the health and wellbeing of patients, 

public and service users. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aims and Objectives 

Our aims and objectives are to: 

· Gather views and understand the 

experiences of people who use services, 

carers and the wider community. 

· Make people’s views known. 

· Promote and support the involvement of 

people in the commissioning and provision 

of local care services and how they are 

scrutinised. 

· Recommend investigation or special 

review of services via Healthwatch 

England or directly to the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). 

· Provide advice and information about 

access to services and support for making 

informed choices. 

· Make the views and experiences of 

people known to Healthwatch England and 

providing a steer to help it carry out its 

role as national champion.  

 

  

Page 26



About Healthwatch 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  5 

Our priorities 

Our strategic priorities were established 

through engagement events with 

members. These priorities are outlined 

here.   

Enablement  

Focusing mainly on fit older people who 

do not meet Fair Access to Care Services 

assessment criteria. 

Mental health services  

To promote the development of 

prevention services; to make sure that 

mental health services across the borough 

take service user and carer feedback into 

account. 

Integrated care  

People with complex health and social 

care needs are supported to live at home 

and receive integrated care and support 

from multi-agency teams working closely 

with their GP. 

Access to primary care  

To improve access resulting in better 

health outcomes for local people including 

carers, young carers and older people who 

do not have English as their first language, 

to promote people to be able to manage 

effectively their own conditions at home. 

 

Our values 

Our values at Healthwatch Lewisham are: 

· Equality & Diversity 

· Inclusion 

· Public engagement & participation 

· Transparency 

· Accountability 

· Effectively representing the voices of 

patients, service users and residents of 

Lewisham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  6 

Engaging with people who use 
health and social care services  

Understanding people’s 

experiences  

 

Lewisham is a diverse borough and our 

community engagement is targeted to 

meet the needs of local people. A range of 

steps were taken to get views of people’s 

needs and experiences of health and 

social care services, including seldom 

heard voices. These are outlined below.  

 

Young people  

One in four Lewisham residents is under 

19 years old. So it is vitally important that 

children and young people have a say in 

how local services are run. Healthwatch 

Lewisham has been finding innovative 

ways to engage with young people and we 

now have a dedicated children and young 

people’s area of our website.   

Last year Healthwatch was elected on to 

the Children and Young People’s Forum 

steering group. A number of presentations 

were made last year to this forum.  

We currently have young people who are 

Healthwatch Youth Champions and 

Healthwatch Lewisham supported the 

HeadStart bid which could potentially 

bring up to £10 million to Lewisham from 

2016 to 2020. Healthwatch Lewisham is a 

key partner in the bid and has been 

involved in its development since the 

initial stages of the planning process. 

We also worked closely with other local 

organisations to provide drop-in sessions 

to gather views and experiences of health 

and social care services for children and 

young people at Kaleidoscope – Lewisham 

Centre for Children & Young People. The 

reports from this engagement are 

available on our website.  

 “The Healthwatch workshop 

was really interactive, we were 

really impressed.” 

Lewisham resident 

 

Older people 

Older people’s views of services are key to 

helping us understand what works and 

does not work in health and social care 

provision.  

Throughout the year we worked with 

pensioners groups and in October 

Healthwatch Lewisham held an 

intergenerational event for residents at a 

sheltered housing scheme to mark Older 

People’s Day. The idea for the event 

emerged after Healthwatch Lewisham 

trained six young people earlier in the 

year to become Enter and View 

champions.  

Our Youth Champions wrote a set of 

recommendations to improve the 

wellbeing of older people. As a result, we 

organised an intergenerational event with 

the Young Mayor’s Team. 

  

Page 28



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  7 

Seldom heard and other disadvantaged 

groups 

Healthwatch Lewisham worked closely 

with Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 

groups, including a Vietnamese group and 

a Turkish elders group around accessing 

primary care. Elsewhere we visited 

homeless services, older people’s groups 

and residential homes to find out what 

works and what does not work in primary 

care. A report was published outlining 

these findings.  

“I felt empowered giving my 

views as a carer.” 

Lewisham resident 

Steps were taken to establish views of 

those from outside the borough. 

Healthwatch Lewisham engaged with 

students from Goldsmiths University at 

their annual Freshers' Fair where we 

encouraged students to become members 

and to volunteer with the organisation. 

Many of these students lived outside the 

borough of Lewisham. We provided 

information about local health services 

and encouraged students to register with a 

local GP to avoid unnecessary visits to the 

Accident and Emergency service.  

"I am very impressed and 

extremely happy with the 

report." 

Lyla, Tryangle Project 

Healthwatch Lewisham worked with 

service users and individuals from a range 

of communities - ensuring that the views 

of seldom heard groups were heard. For 

instance we worked with Lewisham 

Speaking Up, a learning disability 

advocacy organisation in obtaining their 

views of services.  

We also worked with the Whitefoot and 

Downham Food Project ensuring that 

marginalised individuals using this service 

had their views heard. We attended a 

number of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 

Transgender events to promote awareness 

of how their members can feedback or 

raise concerns about health and care 

services.  

One of Healthwatch Lewisham’s main 

priorities is mental health and we were 

involved in planning last year’s annual 

voluntary sector Mental Health 

Conference. Over 100 service users, carers 

and professionals attended this event and 

we ran a well-received workshop about 

how to best involve Healthwatch in 

improving local mental health services.  

At our annual event in December we 

engaged with over 100 people, reaching 

many seldom heard groups of people.  

 

Enter and View  

As an independent consumer champion of 

health and social care, Healthwatch 

Lewisham is able to visit local health and 

social care services.  

Under the Health and Social Care Act 

2012, Healthwatch can carry out Enter and 

View visits to any publicly funded health 

and social care provider. 

Enter and View visits are carried out by 

trained Healthwatch staff and volunteers. 

As well as speaking to people using the 

service, Healthwatch observe how the 

service is delivered and the general 

environment in which it takes place. 

Healthwatch Lewisham carefully plan 

Enter and View visits with a clear purpose 

in mind to help improve health and social 

care services.  

Page 29



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  8 

Priorities for Enter and View work during 

the year were determined through our 

community engagement work, and this 

year focused on learning disability services 

and on mental health services.  

Healthwatch conducted Enter and View 

visits to three registered care services and 

two local day centres, and undertook 

several Enter and View visits to the 

Ladywell Unit. The Ladywell is a mental 

health unit based at University Hospital in 

Lewisham.  

For more details about our work with 

Ladywell, see the Impact Stories below.  

Page 30



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  9 

Providing information and 
signposting for people who use 
health and social care services  

Helping people get what they 

need from local health and social 

care services  

 

Information  

Throughout the year Healthwatch 

Lewisham was present at various events 

and locations around the borough, 

including local assemblies, public events, 

health and social care settings. This work 

helped promote our priority work areas of 

access to primary care, mental health, 

enablement and integrated care.  

Healthwatch Lewisham has over 900 

followers on Twitter 

As well as printed materials, we make full 

use of our website and other social media 

facilities. 1743 people subscribe to our 

monthly email bulletin Upbeat, and we 

have 926 Twitter followers. Healthwatch 

articles were published in the Voluntary 

Action Lewisham email bulletin and their 

newsletter, along with articles in other 

local publications.  

The Healthwatch website is updated 

weekly with health and social care news 

and resources. In addition, there is now a 

dedicated children and young people’s 

area of our website.  

“I used Healthwatch and had a 

fantastic outcome for my 

daughter who has learning 

difficulties. It totally changed 

the outcome thanks to your 

involvement.”  

Lewisham resident 

Throughout the year we continued to 

ensure that our leaflets were available 

throughout the borough at local libraries, 

GP practices, shops and public venues. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  10 

Signposting  

Throughout the year, Healthwatch 

Lewisham disseminated a range of 

information about local services and 

helped members of the public navigate 

the health and social care system.  

The team responded to signposting 

requests from the information telephone 

line and email. The most common queries 

continued to be about access to primary 

care, mainly GP access.  

“Healthwatch does signpost to 

the right place really quickly.” 

Lewisham resident 

Enquiries were often addressed in just a 

few minutes. However, some were serious 

issues that required research to find the 

right organisation to signpost to. 

For this reason we have developed a list of 

useful contacts for common requests 

which is added to regularly by the team.  

The list includes details of where to 

signpost to such as Patient Advice and 

Liaison Service, NHS England, Lewisham 

Council Social Care Complaints, Social 

Care Information Team, Voice Ability’s 

advocacy service, etc.  

Using our extensive database we are able 

to signpost people to relevant local 

services such as Lewisham Connections 

and the Diabetes Support Group, as well 

as national bodies such as the National 

Child Birth Trust. 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  11 

Influencing decision makers with 
evidence from local people  

Producing reports and 

recommendations to effect change  

Healthwatch Lewisham produced a 

number of reports, all of which are 

available on our website. This section 

outlines some of this work. 

 

District Nursing report 

Following concerns about the quality of 

district nursing services, Healthwatch 

conducted interviews with the recipients 

of district nursing services.  

Healthwatch attended monthly district 

nursing stakeholder meetings to present 

reports of service user feedback on how to 

improve the service.  

The Healthwatch District Nursing report 

was included in an audit review of district 

nursing services. The service user 

feedback was accepted by the service and 

the recommendations are currently being 

implemented.  

 

Enter and View reports 

Healthwatch carried out a number of 

Enter and View visits over the year. 

Reports from this work can be accessed on 

our website, and our work with the 

Ladywell Unit is profiled below in the 

Impact Stories section.  

 

 

 

Unsafe Discharge report 

Healthwatch Lewisham was part of a 

national investigation into what happens 

when people are sent home from hospital 

without the right support in place.  

We wanted to get a deeper understanding 

of what happens to people who 

experience ‘unsafe discharge’ from 

hospital or care settings. We were 

particularly concerned about the impact 

that unsafe discharge can have on people 

who are already vulnerable.  

Our work focused on vulnerable groups 

such as older people and people with 

mental health problems.  

In this inquiry we spoke to over 200 people 

in Lewisham about their experiences of 

returning home from hospital. The report 

included recommendations to improve the 

discharge process and this was shared with 

Healthwatch England in July.  

 

Primary care report 

Feedback at our public events highlighted 

that patients have significant difficulties 

when trying to access primary care. 

Healthwatch decided to carry out further 

engagement activity with over 450 

individuals and 20 community groups to 

find out what mattered and what 

difficulties they had accessing primary 

care services. 

Many of those participating praised their 

GP, although we heard over 200 examples 

of people having difficulties when 

Page 33



Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  12 

accessing their GP. Issues were mainly 

around appointment making and advance 

appointments.  

Issues raised included the quality of their 

GP appointments, misdiagnosis, not being 

listened to, language barriers and not 

being referred onto other services. People 

felt that there was often an inconsistency 

between general practice and also an 

inconsistency between other health and 

social care providers. A key topic was the 

lack of communication between health 

and social care services.  

Our public engagement events helped 

influence Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group's Primary Care 

Development Strategy. This strategy was 

influenced by findings about the extent to 

which local people were unaware of how 

to access GP out of hours services. 

Healthwatch Lewisham worked closely 

with the Lewisham Clinical Commissioning 

Group in the compilation of their report 

delivered to Lewisham Council's Healthier 

Communities Select Committee in 

January.  

 

Putting local people at the heart 

of improving services  

Health and Wellbeing Board  

Healthwatch Lewisham has a seat on the 

Health and Wellbeing Board. Our chair 

attends this board and is able to raise 

concerns and highlight issues on behalf of 

Healthwatch Lewisham and its members.  

Healthwatch Lewisham staff and 

subcommittee help support the chair in 

this role by discussing issues ahead of 

these board meetings. This ensures that 

our representative on the board is well 

informed of the issues and is therefore 

able to effectively articulate any 

concerns.  

Healthwatch Lewisham staff also 

presented last year’s annual report to 

Health and Wellbeing Board in July. This 

was well received by the board, who were 

supportive of the work of Healthwatch 

Lewisham. Minutes from board meetings 

are available on the council’s website.  

Healthwatch staff also attended the Joint 

Public Engagement Group, the subgroup of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board that 

meets specifically to incorporate the 

views of the public into health and social 

care strategy.  

 

Working with others to improve 

local services  

Healthwatch has a representative on the 

governing body of the Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group and its subgroup the 

Public Engagment Group. These 

representatives are lay members of the 

Healthwatch Lewisham subcommittee.  

Through these meetings Healthwatch is 

able to ensure that the views of its 

members and the public are incorporated 

into the commissioning of health services 

in the borough.  

Healthwatch Lewisham facilitated two 

events on the future commissioning of 

integrated services. The aim of these 

events was to gather views on Lewisham 

Clinical Commissioning Group and 

Lewisham Council's Joint Commissioning 

Intentions for Integrated Care 2015-17. 

Over 40 people attended the events, 

feeding into the joint commissioning 

intentions relating to integrated care in 

the borough.These views were taken on 

board in the commissioning of health and 

social care services for Lewisham. 

We have good relationships with 

commissioners and providers and have had 

excellent responses to our requests for 

information. All our requests for 

Page 34



Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  13 

information from commissioners and 

providers were responded to.  

We continued to engage with the wider 

community and voluntary sector 

throughout the year at the Health and 

Social Care Forum where we facilitated 

discussions and gathered feedback on 

services relating to our priorities. 

 

Healthwatch Lewisham has built on its 

links with the Lewisham Connections 

project. We are a member on the 

Lewisham Connections Steering Group. 

Local Healthwatches are required to 

report on whether or not they have made 

recommendations to the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). Healthwatch Lewisham 

did not make recommendations to the 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) to 

undertake special reviews (themed 

investigations) or investigations 

(responsive inspections). As Healthwatch 

Lewisham did not make any 

recommendations to the CQC, the CQC did 

not undertake any special reviews or 

investigations. 

 

 

Inquiry into community care services 

Following concerns expressed to us about 

the changes affecting community care 

services we undertook an Appreciative 

Inquiry – an approach that is designed to 

focus on identifying what is working well.  

More than 100 examples of excellent 

community care were collected. 

Healthwatch organised two stakeholder 

events with commissioners, service users, 

staff, voluntary sector organisations and 

local councillors to endorse themes and 

develop a vision for community services.  

The inquiry identified a number of themes 

that are essential to excellent community 

care and Healthwatch produced a report 

of the Appreciative Inquiry with the 

findings from the public event.  

As a result, Healthwatch met with the 

Clinical Commissioning Group to discuss 

the findings of the Appreciative Inquiry 

and commissioners expect to incorporate 

these themes into future planning of local 

health services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Headstart partnership 

Healthwatch continued to be an active 

partner in Lewisham’s bid for the Fulfilling 

Lives: HeadStart Programme. Lewisham is 

Page 35



Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  14 

one of twelve areas in the country 

considering how best to improve resilience 

in young people aged 10 to 14 years. This 

is an opportunity to transform young 

people’s wellbeing in the borough and 

could potentially provide funding of 

around £10m over five years to improve 

the mental health of young people. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  15 

Impact Stories 

Case Study One  

Championing the views of parents and carers

Parents and carers’ voices are key to 

understanding what works in our health 

and care services.  

Healthwatch Lewisham worked closely 

with the Parent and Carer Forum as part 

of a consortium of organisations who 

provide support, signposting and 

information at the Kaleidoscope centre 

for children and young people in Catford. 

"I thought the event was very 

good." 

Sue, Parent and Carer Forum 

Our aim of working with the LPCF was to 

find out about families’ experiences using 

health and social care services for 

children with complex needs and then to 

seek to influence this sevice provision.  

Healthwatch Lewisham produced two 

reports collating the feedback from 

families who use the children’s centre. 

Following this, Healthwatch was invited 

to the forum in January 2015 for an in-

depth discussion with parents with a 

particular focus on community care 

services.  

21 members of the Parent and Carer 

Forum took part in the discussion. The 

key issues they discussed were general 

practice, hospital services, Children and 

Adolescents Mental Health Services, and 

the transition from children’s to adult 

services.  

Healthwatch collated the findings from 

all the engagement undertaken over the 

previous year with families who have 

children with complex needs.  

Healthwatch used this information as part 

of an inquiry into community care 

services and also produced a report on 

our work with the Lewisham and Parent 

Carer Forum which we shared with the 

wider membership of parents of the 

forum.  

From this work, we held constructive 

discussions with commissioners about how 

to improve health and social care services 

for children with complex needs.  

For more information on Healthwatch 

Lewisham’s reports please visit 

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



Impact Stories 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  16 

Case Study Two  

Enter and View visits to mental health services 

 

From our engagement work last year we 

established that mental health services 

were a key priority for service users and 

members of the public.  

As a result, Healthwatch Lewisham 

conducted Enter and View visits to seven 

wards at the Ladywell Unit run by South 

London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Trust.  

The aim of the Enter and View visits was 

to assess patient experience, particularly 

about how well supported patients felt on 

the wards. 

National award winners 

Healthwatch Lewisham, along with 

five other south London 

Healthwatches, won the award for 

Outstanding Collaborative Project at 

the national Healthwatch Network 

Awards of Achievement 2014. The 

award was for the collaborative 

approach to Enter and View visits.  

Last year we conducted several Enter and 

View visits to the Ladywell Unit, located 

at Lewisham Hospital. This provided us 

with valuable information about the 

current patient experience of local 

inpatient mental health services.  

Healthwatch reports including Enter and 

View reports are taken seriously by 

commissioners and providers, and SLaM 

responded to all the recommendations of 

the Healthwatch Enter and View Report 

on the Ladywell Unit.  

We have since met with SLaM managers 

regarding updates on the improvement 

plan following our Enter and View visits.  

Key outcomes as a result of this work 

included redecoration of wards, ward and 

service manager surgeries and improved 

staff safeguarding competencies.  

Healthwatch carried out Enter and 

View visits to seven inpatient wards at 

the Ladywell Unit and spoke to 39 

patients.  

Subsequent meetings with SLaM service 

managers at the Ladywell Unit have 

informed us of updates following our 

report.  

All our Enter and View reports are 

available on our website. 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  17 

Our plans for 2015/16  

Helathwatch Bromley & Lewisham 

 

Looking into 2015/16, one change 

presents itself before all others as 

both an opportunity and a challenge: 

having placed a winning bid, 

Healthwatch Bromley will be delivering 

Healthwatch for the London Borough 

of Lewisham from 1st April 2015. This 

presents an exciting opportunity to 

work across the two boroughs, and 

represent an even bigger patient voice 

with regards to health and social care. 

 

Each borough has of course its own 

concerns and priorities and we are 

keen to reflect the diversity of both in 

our engagement work. At the same 

time we hope to ensure we represent a 

unified patient voice that accurately 

reflects the concerns of the two 

boroughs and identifies key areas for 

improvement. Our joint work across 

the two boroughs is reflective of the 

current climate in health and social 

care and the gradual move towards co-

commissioning within the sector.  

 

The increasing movement of residents 

and service users across borough 

boundaries also means that services 

are becoming more connected than 

ever, meaning it is no longer sufficient 

or beneficial to simply observe or 

improve services in an isolated manner 

or within a single locality.  

 

Healthwatch Bromley & Lewisham will 

continue to build on its successes so 

far, including its work around Enter & 

View visits, primary care research and 

inquiry into unsafe discharge 

processes. The NHS Our Healthier 

Southeast London programme will be 

of particular importance over the 

coming months as our Community 

Engagement Officers will be working 

with a variety of different 

communities to make sure they have 

input into this.  

 

We are confident that Healthwatch 

Bromley and Lewisham will be a strong 

consumer champion for both boroughs 

and look forward to the exciting 

opportunities ahead.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  18 

Our governance and decision-
making  

Healthwatch Lewisham 

governance 

Volunteers and lay people are at the heart 

of decisions that we make. Our 

subcommittee members are volunteers, 

demonstrating our commitment to 

involving volunteers and local people in 

decisions about our priorities.  

Healthwatch Lewisham’s subcommittee 

members during 2014-2015 were: 

Rosemarie Ramsay (chair from September 

2014), Chris Freed (chair until September 

2014), Brian Fisher, Denver Garrison, 

Geraldine Richards, Taiwo Oyekan, Nigel 

Bowness, Philippe Granger and Val 

Fulcher. 

How we involve lay people and 

volunteers  

Our bimonthly subcommittee meetings in 

the past year were open to the public and 

they were therefore able to raise issues 

and help steer the work of Healthwatch 

Lewisham. 

These meetings provided a great 

opportunity for the public to find out 

about the governance of Healthwatch 

Lewisham, our work priorities, and a 

chance to hear from the providers and 

commissioners of health and social care 

services.  

 

 

 

Staffing and volunteers 

We would like to say a big thank you to all 

our subcommittee members and our 

numerous volunteers who have given many 

hours to help Healthwatch Lewisham 

achieve its goals.  

Our staff team in 2014-15 consisted of 

Miriam Long, Marzena Zoladz, Jade 

Fairfax, Simone Riddle and Gary Davis 

(until September). Throughout the year 

our volunteers assisted staff in delivering 

many of Healthwatch’s functions. A big 

thank you to:  

Annette Morgan, Avril Douglas, Ayla 

Mustapha, Denis Nkrumah, Denver 

Garison, Desmond Hodgson, Diana 

Robbins, Elsa Pascal, Havza Hussein, Jacky 

Kinnear, Jennifer Gillard, Juilet Anthony, 

Kenya Fantie, Leia Garwood-Stevenson, 

Margo Sheridan, Nnenna Nzeh, Petrona 

Grant, Saffron Worrell, Sally Niblett, Sara 

Dimtsu, Sarah McGinley and Susie Miah. 

Volunteers play an active part in a number 

of areas of our work. For instance, 

volunteers attended a number of health 

and social care services including the 

Kaleidoscope centre and GP surgeries.  

A group of trained volunteers also assisted 

staff on Enter and View visits. Volunteers 

have also played an important role 

collating and analysing data to establish 

what the public thought of aspects of 

health and social care.  

 

 

Page 40



Our governance and decision-making 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  19 

 

Page 41



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  20 

Financial information  

 

 INCOME £ 

Funding from local authority to deliver local 

Healthwatch statutory activities 

143,289 

 

Brought forward  29,848 

Total income 173,137 

  

EXPENDITURE  

Staffing costs 133,752 

Support costs 10,686 

Info and publicity costs 350 

Governance and fundraising costs 5,269 

Activity costs 22,476 

Total expenditure 172,533 

Surplus / Deficit 604 

 

Page 42



 

 

Contact us  

 

Get in touch 

We have moved recently. Our new contact details are: 

 

Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham 

Community House 

South Street 

Bromley 

Kent 

BR1 1RH 

 

020 8315 1916 

  

admin@healthwatchbromley.co.uk  

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

We will be making this annual report publicly available by 30 June 2015 by publishing it on 

our website and circulating it to Healthwatch England, CQC, NHS England, Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Healthier Communities Select Committee and Lewisham Council.  

We confirm that we are using the Healthwatch Trademark (which covers the logo and 

Healthwatch brand) when undertaking work on our statutory activities as covered by the 

licence agreement. 

 If you require this report in an alternative format please contact us at the address above.  

 

© Copyright Healthwatch Lewisham, 2015  

 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee 

Title Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account 2014-15 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 7 

Class Part 1(open) 25 June 2015 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 As part of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust’s plan to share and invite 

comments and contributions to its Quality Accounts, it has submitted the draft 2014-
15 Account to the Committee (attached). 

 
1.2 The Quality Account highlights performance in key areas, so partners and staff 

know how the Trust is performing and how it is working to improve quality. The 
Account will be published on 30 June. 

 
2.  Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to: 
 

• Review the draft Account and agree any comments it wishes to be included in 
the final submission. 

 
For further information please contact Timothy Andrew, Scrutiny Manager on 
02083147916. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

QUALITY ACCOUNT 2014-2015 
Draft Version 1.6 

  

Page 47



 

 

 

 
Contents 
 
Glossary…………………………………………………………………………………  4 
 
Part 1 
 
A Statement of Quality from the Chief Executive…………………………………  6 
 
 
Part 2 
 
2.1 Our Priorities for Improvement for 2015/16…….............................................. 7 
 
2.1.1 Patient Safety …………………………. 
 

2.1.1 (i) Improving Hand Hygiene Compliance     9 

2.1.1. (ii)  Early recognition and treatment of the deteriorating patient 

2.1.1. (iii)  Improving the safety of maternity services 

2.1.1 (iv) Continue our focus on the aim to reduce the number of  

grade 2, 3 and 4 hospital acquired pressure ulcers   10 

2.1.1.(v) Reduction in the number of patient falls and harm incurred 
2.1.1. (vi) Help people to understand why things go wrong and how  

to put them right. Give staff the time and support to  
improve and celebrate the progress     10 

 

 
2.1.2   Clinical Effectiveness…………………………………………………… 
 
2.1.2 (i)  To continue the work on embedding the process for    11 

mortality reviews across the Trust  
 2.1.2 (ii) We will continue to focus providing individualised care for 

patients with dementia and their carers and will expand  
this work into intermediate and community care 

 2.1.2. (iii) Improving the quality and effectiveness of care to children  12 
and young people with complex needs and long term  
conditions. 

 
2.1.3 Patient Experience……………………………………………………… 
 
2.1.3 (i)  To further embed the Friends and Family Test across    14 

    community and outpatient services 
 2.1.3 (ii) To continue to roll out the After Action Review process within the  14 

Trust by incorporating AAR training in the Trust training  
programme and supporting the development of AAR conductors 

 2.1.3 (iii) To develop cross-divisional learning from patient stories and   14 
Feedback 

Page 48



 

 

 2.1.3 (iv)  To improve the provision of ‘welcome to the ward’ information  15 
through the use of innovative design. 

 2.1.3 (v) Hello my name is campaign      15 
 
 
 
2.2 Statements of assurance from the Board of Directors     16 
 
2.2.1 National Mandated Quality Indicators       17 
 

2.2.1 Patient Safety…………………………………………………………….. 
 

 2.2.1 (i)  The percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and  17 
who were risk assessed for Venous Thromboembolism (VTE)  
during 2014/15 

 2.2.1 (ii)  The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection 18 
 reported within the Trust amongst patients aged 2 or over  
during 2014/15 

 2.2.1 (iii) The number and rate of patient safety incidents reported   20 
within the Trust and the number and percentage of such  
patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm  
or death for 2014/15 

  
 
2.2.2 Clinical Effectiveness……………………………………………………. 
 
2.2.2 (i) Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)   22 
2.2.2 (ii))  Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMS)    25 
2.2.2. (iii) Reduction in emergency readmissions within 28 days of   27 

discharge from hospital 
 
 
2.2.3 Patient Experience……………………………………………………….  29 
 
2.2.3 (i) The Trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs of the patients 29 
2.2.3 (ii) The percentage of staff employed by the Trust who would  31 

recommend the Trust as a provider of care to their family  
and friends 

 
 

2.3  Participation in Clinical Audits…………………………………………….  33 
2.4  Participation in Clinical Research………………………………………...  43 
2.5  Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs)…………………  46 
2.6  What others say about Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust…………….. 46 
2.7  Data Quality…………………………………………………………………  48 
2.10  Information Governance Toolkit……………….………………………….  49 
2.11  Clinical Coding …….………………………………………………………  49 
 
 
Part 3 
 
3.1 Overview of performance in 2014/15 against Quality Priorities   51 

Page 49



 

 

 
3.1.1 Embedding a new organisational culture 
 
3.1.1 (i)  Development of Clinical Strategy      51 
3.1.1(ii) Promoting a culture of ‘Putting patients first’ with care and   51 

compassion in nursing 
 3.1.1 (iii) Promoting a workforce which has the right staff, with the   52 

right skills in the right place 
 3.1.1 (iv) Care Quality Commission action plan     52 

 
3.1.2 Patient Safety…………………………………………………………  54 
 
3.1.2 (i) Patient Safety Incidents reported      54 
3.1.2 (ii) Reducing the incidence of avoidable harm    54 
3.1.2 (iii)  Improving maternity services      56 
3.1.2 (iv)  Delivering safe care to children in Acute settings   57 
 
 
 
3.1.3 Clinical Effectiveness……………………………………………………  58 
 
3.1.3. (i)  Reducing premature mortality and increased survival rates from 58 

lung and colorectal cancer with early detection  
 3.1.3 (ii) Reduce mortality rates amenable to healthcare    58 
 3.1.3 (iii) Improving outcomes and total health gain as assessed by   59 

patients for planned treatments (PROMS) 
 3.1.3 (iv) Dementia – Improving the diagnosis, treatment and quality   60 

of life in a long term condition (Domain 2 of  
NHS Outcomes Framework) 
 
 

3.1.4 Patient Experience……………………………………………………….  62 
 
3.1.4 (i)  Increased response rate for Friends and Family Test in   62 

hospital and roll out to community and outpatient services 
 3.1.4 (ii) Improving the quality of end of life care     62 
 3.1.4 (iii) Improving women’s’ experience of postnatal care   63 
 3.1.4 (iv) Improving the way in which we manage and learn from complaints 63 
 
3.2  An explanation of who has been involved………………………………….. 65 
3.3  Statements provided from Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham Commissioning 

Group, Local Healthwatch and OSCs…………….     66 
3.4  External Auditors Limited Assurance Report………………………………… 67 
3.5  Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account…. 67 
3.6  Feedback…................................................................................................... 68 
 
Appendix 1  
Full list of Local Clinical Audits reviewed in 2014-2015      69 
  

Page 50



 

 

GLOSSARY  

 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

AAR After Action Review 

CAS Central Alerting System 

CAP Clinical Audit Programme 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

C. diff Clostridium difficile 

CEFM Continuous Electronic Foetal Monitoring 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CF Cystic Fibrosis 
CHKS Independent provider of healthcare intelligence, 

benchmarking and quality improvement services 

CLRN Comprehensive Local Research Network 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

CRN Comprehensive Research Network 

CTG Cardiotocography 

DNA Did Not Attend 

ED Emergency Department 

EoT End of Treatment 

FFT  Friends and Family Test 

GP  General Practitioner 

HNA Holistic Needs Assessment 

HPA Health Protection Agency 

HQIP Health Quality Improvement Programme 

HRG Healthcare Resource Group 

HSCIC Health and Social Care Information Centre 

HWBE Health and Well Being Events 

IA Intermittent Auscultation 

ICD Internal Classification of Diseases 

IG Information Governance 

LCA London Cancer Alliance 

LCP Liverpool Care Pathway 

LGT Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 

MCRN Medicines for Children’s Research Network 

MINAP Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project 

MRSA Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus 

NHFD National Hip Fracture Database 

NHS National Health Service 

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

NICU Neonatal Intensive Care Unit 

Page 51



 

 

NIHR National Institute for Health Research 

NNAP National Neonatal Audit Programme 

NRLS National Reporting Learning System 

OPCS Office of Population Censuses and Surveys 

OSC Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

OWL Outcomes with Learning 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

PbR Payment by Results 

PHE Public Health England 

PROMS Patient Reported Outcome Measures 

PVL  Panton-Valentine Leukocidin 

QEH Queen Elizabeth Hospital 

RAMI Risk Adjusted Mortality Index 

RCoA Royal College of Anaesthetists 

R&D Research and Development 

SBAR Situation Background Assessment Recommendation 

SHMI Summary Hospital Mortality Indicator 

SUS Secondary Uses Service 

TARN Trauma Audit and Research Network 

UHL University Hospital Lewisham 

VTE Venous Thromboembolism 
 
  

Page 52



 

 

 

 
PART 1 

 
 

1. Statement of Quality from the Chief Executive 
 

Welcome to the 2014–15 Quality Account for 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust.  
 
This is the first publication of the Quality 
Account for a full year of our organisation, 
following the merger of lewisham Healthcare 
NHS Trust with Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
Woolwich (part of South London NHS Trust) 
and reflects the performance of the Trust 
from April 2014 to March 2015. 

 

I hope you find the report a useful guide to 
our performance and achievements over the 
last year and our priorities going forward as 
we continue to work towards embedding what 
we have achieved, transforming our services, 
addressing on-going challenges and working 
with local people and other local 
organisations to improve healthcare in 
Lewisham, Greenwich and Bexley and 
beyond. 
  
The past twelve months has been an 
extremely busy, demanding and challenging 
period for our organisation as we embarked 
on major ambitious projects to transform 
some of our services and deliver on quality 
and safety improvement plans following our 
CQC inspection in February 2014.  
 
Staff have also worked extremely hard 
throughout the year in supporting the 
organisation to respond to the increasing 
local demand for our services and to ensure 
the success of some of our major projects. 
We have successfully implemented a brand 
new electronic patient record system at the 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital and in response to 
improving the emergency and other clinical 
pathways for patients, we have successfully 
delivered on a number of our planned 
initiatives.  
We have built and opened our brand new 
birth centre, the A&E Clinical Decision Unit 
and the Discharge and Transport Lounge at 
the Queen Elizabeth Hospital. We have 
created additional bed capacity at the 

Lewisham Hospital site with the expansion of 
our dedicated stroke facilities and have 
developed and opened the surgical 
assessment units at both sites. 

 

Whilst the majority of our CQC improvement 
plan focussed on the QEH Accident and 
Emergency environment and the flow of 
patients through the emergency care 
pathway, there were other areas where 
improvements were required.  
Staffing within wards areas has increased 
and our vacancy rates have fallen 
continuously throughout the year. 
Infection Control practices and hand hygiene 
compliance has improved and all staff are 
encouraged to challenge any non-compliance 
observed. 
Waste management and secure control of 
clinical waste management has also been 
addressed with the building of robust, secure 
storage compounds across the Trust. 

 
Whilst making significant progress and 
improving quality and safety during 2014/15, 
our focus still remains on maintaining a 
strong operational and financial ‘grip’ on the 
business ensuring we meet all service quality 
and performance standards, consistently 
deliver a good patient experience and are 
able to demonstrate more efficient use of 
resources. A key priority going forward will be 
to continue to work with local partners to 
embed the emergency pathway, develop a 
pathway for the frail and elderly, maximise 
the use of community and social care teams 
and further develop plans for an effective 
ambulatory care model. 

 

I hope that you find the information contained 
in this Quality Account. The full document will 
also be available on our web site: 
www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk 

 

To the best of my knowledge, the information 
contained in this document is accurate. 

 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

 

 
PART 2 

 

2.1 Our Quality priorities for 2015-16 
 
 

We aim to provide patients with an excellent experience of care and to ensure we continue 
our commitment to improve reducing avoidable harm. This ambition is reflected in our 
strategic objectives.  
 
Our quality strategy for 2015-16 is to ensure that we improve our contribution to the 
provision of healthcare for our patients both in the community and in hospital settings as 
well as focusing on the challenge of our transformation of services and our challenging 
financial plans. 
 
We have developed a set of priorities drawn from the review of the work undertaken during 
2014-15 and also those areas which still require on-going improvements. These priorities 
form the basis of the Divisional business plans, our CQUIN initiatives, the Sign Up to Safety 
Pledges and the overall Trust Strategy and operating plans. 
 
The monitoring, review and reporting of progress for the priorities will be via the Quality and 
Safety and Integrated Governance Committees within the Trust. 
 
Each of the priorities fits under the key themes of quality: 

Patient Safety – having the right systems and staff in place to minimize risk of 
harm to our patients and, if things go wrong, to be open and learn from our 

mistakes 

Clinical Effectiveness – providing the highest quality care, with high-

performing outcomes whilst also being efficient and cost effective. 

Patient Experience – meeting our patient’s emotional as well as physical 

needs. 

Page 54



 

 

How we chose our priorities 
 
 
Throughout the year our progress towards achieving the 2014-15 priorities has been 
monitored and reported at meetings held across the Trust and with key stakeholders being 
present at these meetings, these include our local commissioners, local Healthwatch, 
Patient Welfare Forum and Patient User Groups. 
 
The progress of our performance with these priorities has been reviewed and although 
there have been significant achievements made throughout the year, there is still room for 
improvement where the priorities are focussed on basic safety practices and enhancing  
patients’ experience. Therefore, we have committed to continuing our work to improve 
patient safety by: 

 reducing avoidable harm,  

 being open and exercising our duty of candour, 

 and committing to the national Sign up to Safety programme with our safety 

pledges.  

We have also committed to continue our work to improve the clinical pathways for patients 
to achieve better outcomes and enhances experience for patients. 
 
These priorities have been developed with the Trust Divisions and have been both 
supported and approved by our Trust Board, the Trust Quality and Safety Committee and 
our Clinical Commissioning Quality Review Group.  
 
In addition to the highlighted quality priorities, we will continue with our overall plan to 
improve quality, safety and clinical effectiveness and will continue to work on our plans to 
deliver our CQC action plan, to improve our emergency care pathways, to develop our 
pathway for the frail and elderly, to develop our ambulatory care model and to progress 
our transformation work to provide continual improvement to our services. 
 
 
The following tables outline the 2015/16 quality priorities and why we have chosen them. 
 

Page 55



 

 

 

2.1.1 Patient Safety Priorities 

Patient Safety Priorities 

   

Our quality priorities and why we chose them 
 

 What success will look like 

i) Improving our Hand Hygiene Compliance 
 
Reduction in avoidable infections relies on good 
compliance with hand hygiene standards. Our CQC 
inspection found that although there were many areas 
where excellent compliance was observed, there were 
some areas where non-compliance was observed and 
through our own internal audits, there is still 
improvement to be made. 

 We will achieve 90% compliance across all 
Departments  

   
ii) Early recognition and treatment of the 
deteriorating patient 

 
The early recognition and detection of deteriorating 
patients has been shown to improve the clinical 
outcomes for patients. Our review of incidents has 
shown that we need to improve the early detection of 
patients in whom their clinical condition has 
deteriorated by ensuring regular monitoring of 
observations is carried out and ensuring proactive 
intervention of the results of these observations is 
taken.  

 We will ensure successful roll out of our new 
Early Warning Score Observation Charts 
across all sites 
We will introduce the use of the SBAR 
communication tool in all clinical areas to 
support robust escalation and handover of 
care 
We will implement the Sepsis toolkit across 
all areas and will conduct monthly audits on 
performance 

   
iii) Improving the Safety of Maternity Services 

 
Not only can babies be severely harmed by failures in 
assessment of the wellbeing of the foetus the impact 
of harm has life changing effects for the child and all 
members of their family. The loss of a baby as a 
stillbirth also has significant impact for parents. Our 
priority is set around minimising the risk of these 
events. 

 Achieving return to national comparable rate 
for stillbirths 
Increase detection of growth restricted 
babies in utero 
Reduce poor neonatal outcomes associated 
with poor / inadequate foetal surveillance in 
labour, whether intermittent auscultation (IA) 
or continuous electronic foetal monitoring 
(CEFM) 

   

Page 56



 

 

iv) Continue our focus on the aim to reduce 
the number of grade 2, 3, and 4 hospital 
acquired pressure ulcers and ensure where 
pressure ulcers are acquired within our 
provision of community services, timely 
completion of root cause analysis is 
undertaken and learning is shared across our 
community areas. 

 
Pressure ulcers can be serious and distressing and 
often result in extended lengths of hospital stay for 
patients: mortality rates can increase particularly from 
infection. An increasingly elderly and frail patient 
population in our area who often have several co-
morbidities raises the risk for patients of developing 
pressure ulcers. 
Significant progress was made during 14/15 with 
weekly pressure ulcers panels running with support 
from our CCGs to understand the root causes and 
contributory factors. This work has led to a more 
focussed approach to addressing the challenges, 
particularly within our community services, and 
continued collaborative work is still required for 15/16 

 Improve the accuracy of the Waterlow score 
for patients in hospital  and community 
services we provide and achieve at least 
90% compliance with completion of scores 
-100% of eligible clinical staff in community 
services  and 85% of all ward staff (from a 
Training Needs Analysis - TNA) to have 
undertaken the new electronic learning 
package on pressure ulcer prevention and 
management  
- Monitor incidence of grade 2, 3, and 4 
pressure ulcers attributable to Trust for 
reporting and reduction 

   
v) Reduction in the number of patient falls 
and harm incurred 

 
Although the Trust has made significant progress with 
its work on patient falls, the Trust continues to have 
many patient falls reported. Older people and those 
who are frail are at risk of life changing harm and 
increased mortality if they sustain a fracture or a head 
injury as a result of the fall. 

 Reduce the incidence of harm sustained 
from patient falls by 10% by the end of year 

   
vi) Help people to understand why things go 
wrong and how to put them right. Give staff 
the time and support to improve and 
celebrate the progress 

 
Embed the new organisational culture further to 
ensure that all staff know they are expected to report 
and learn from all incidents, serious incidents, 
complaints, claims and case reviews.   
The Trust’s values and behaviours have been 
explained through training and staff focus groups. 
Policies for the new organisation, learning from the 
best of the legacy organisations, have been created 
and widely disseminated and include a policy about 
raising concerns (‘whistleblowing’). 

 Increase in Incident reporting 
Identify appropriate staff to undertake Root 
Cause Analysis Training 
Promote and provide opportunities to share 
the learning identified by incident 
investigations, complaints and claims, CAS 
alerts, and other national initiatives 
Ensure there is an annual staff awards 
process and ceremony to include a Patient 
Safety Award. 

  

Page 57



 

 

2.1.3 Clinical Effectiveness 

 
 
Clinical Effectiveness Priorities   

Our quality priorities and why we chose 
them 

 What success will look like 

i) To continue the work on embedding the 
process for mortality reviews across the 
Trust  

 
During 2014/15 the Trust established a process for 
the review of patient mortality in all specialties. 
Whilst much work has been undertaken, the 
processes need to be embedded across all 
specialties to ensure regular reporting of findings, 
learning from the reviews and sharing the learning 
across the organisation. The Trust mortality rate had 
increased during 13/14 and although much of this 
has been investigated, further, continued work will 
ensure that all elements which contribute to the 
mortality rates such as clinical practice decision-
making, clinical documentation, comorbidity 
recording and clinical coding are fully reviewed, 
understood and action taken where required. 

  Aim for Trust SHMI of 100 or less 
 
Monthly reviews of those deaths in low risk 
groups 
Presentation of reviews and learning at 
Trust Wide Mortality group and Divisional 
Governance groups 
Introduction of co-morbidity and clinical 
coding proforma for all deaths 
 Reduction in inaccurate clinical coding of 
deaths 
 

      

ii) We will continue to focus providing 
individualised care for patients with 
dementia and their carers and will expand 
this work into intermediate and community 
care 

 
During 2014/15 the Trust built on its early work with 
dementia patients and their carers and established a 
'dementia friendly' ward to improve the experience 
for dementia patients. The Trust also established it's 
Carer's Survey which has provided much welcomed 
feedback on how to improve services for dementia 
patients. This year we will build on this work and will 
focus on the discharge plans and communication 
with GPs and Community Services for dementia 
patients and will also expand this work into 
intermediate and community care provided by the 
Trust 

  Established dementia screening and 
assessment process for patients in 
intermediate and community care 
Established Carer's Survey for carers 
within intermediate and community care 
settings 
Development of discharge plan and 
communication for GPs specific to 
dementia care for patients 

      

Page 58



 

 

iii) Improving the quality and effectiveness 
of care to children and young people with 
complex needs and long term conditions. 

 
As the provider responsible for services for children 
across the hospital and community settings we aim  
to improve the care to be provided closer to home for 
children and young people: supporting reduction in 
length of stay and preventing readmission to hospital 
and re-attendance in the emergency department. 

  We will scope and analyse the care and 
movement of children and young people 
with complex needs and long term 
conditions that could be shifted from 
hospital into the community  through rapid 
response and early discharge  
We will redesign and develop collaborative 
pathways to pilot during quarter 4 of the 
year and will aim to introduce new 
pathways at the start of 2015/16 

  

Page 59



 

 

2.1.4 Patient Experience 

Patient Experience Priorities 
 

   

Our quality priorities and why we chose 
them 
 

 What success will look like 

i)To further embed the Friends and Family 
Test across community and outpatient 
services. 

 
The Trust has implemented the National Friends 
and Family Test (FFT) across all of its services.  We 
have used feedback we have received to help us 
identify service improvements.  Because the 
feedback is so useful we would like to ensure that all 
services are fully involved with the Friends and 
Family Test. 

 

  100% services will have FFT feedback.             
All services will be able to demonstrate 
that they have analysed and used the 
feedback to inform the service about 
quality                                   

ii) To continue to roll out the After Action 
Review process within the Trust by 
incorporating AAR training in the Trust 
training programme and supporting the 
development of AAR conductors 

  
In 2014 the Trust planned and implemented a 
project to roll out After Action Review (AAR).  AAR 
is a method to enable a structured conversation 
between the multi-disciplinary team to explore 
events and identify what has gone well and what 
has not gone well. It is a process for learning from 
mistakes and from good practice.  The project has 
been successful and we would now like to train 
more staff to undertake AARs and to encourage the 
routine use of this type of structured conversation. 

 

  AAR training is incorporated in the Trust 
training programme.                                            
Audit of AAR shows that staff understand 
the principles and are embedding it in their 
daily practice 

iii) To develop cross-divisional learning 
from patient stories and feedback 

 
The Trust collects feedback from a range of sources 
including structured surveys, the Friends and Family 
Test, and complaints, compliments and concerns 
raised by individuals.  Learning from all of these is 
shared locally by the services or individuals 
involved.  We would like to ensure that where 
appropriate, learning is shared across services and 
across divisions.  

  Learning is shared through structured 
discussions at the Patient Experience 
Committee. 
Evidence of change through learning is 
reported. 

iv) To improve the provision of ‘welcome to 
the ward’ information through the use of 
innovative design. 

 
 
The Trust is looking at ways of ensuring that 
patients receive and understand essential 
information about their stay in hospital. 

  . Pilot project to ensure key information is 
made available to patients is completed. 
Patients report that they have seen and 
understood the information as measured 
through a patient survey to evaluate the 
pilot. 

Page 60



 

 

 v) Hello my name is campaign 
 
‘The Trust has signed up to be part of the national 
‘Hello my name is’ campaign, started by Dr Kate 
Granger and supported by NHS England. 

 Project plan developed 
Project milestones achieved 
Surveys show that staff always introduce 
themselves 

 
 

  

Page 61



 

 

2.2 Statements of assurance from the Board of Directors 
 
This section contains the statutory statements concerning the quality of services provided by 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust. These are common to all quality accounts and can be used 
to compare us with other organisations.  
 

A review of our services 
 
During the 2014-15 reporting period Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust provided services in 
over 35 NHS specialties, this includes both hospital and community services. A detailed list of 
services provided is available on our website. 
 
The Trust has reviewed all the data available on the quality of care in all of these services through 
its performance management framework and assurance processes. 
 
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2014/15 represents 100 per cent of the 
total income generated from the provision of NHS services by the Trust for 2014/2015 
 

  
National Quality Indicators 

For 2014/2015 there are nine statutory quality indicators which apply to acute hospital trusts. All 
trusts re required to report their performance against these indicators in the same format with the 
aim of making it possible for a reader to compare performance across similar organisations. 
For each indicator our performance is reported with the national average and the performance of 
the best and worst performing trusts. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 62



 

 

2.2.1 Patient Safety 

2.2.1 (i) Patient Safety Indicator 1 – The percentage of patients who were 

admitted to hospital and who were risk assessed for Venous 

Thromboembolism (VTE) during 2014/15 

Venous thromboembolism or blood clots, are a major cause of death in the UK. 
Some blood clots can be prevented by early assessment of the risk for a particular 
patient. Over 95 per cent of our patients are assessed for their risk of thrombosis 
and bleeding on admission to hospital. 

 
We believe our performance reflects the following, that: 

 

 The Trust has a process in place for collating the data on venous thrombo-

embolism assessments; 

 Data is collated internally and then submitted on a monthly basis to the 

Department of Health; 

 Data compared to peers, highest and lowest performers, and our own 

previous performance, as set out in the table below. 

 
VTE assessment rate 
 

  2014/15 

    

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 
Trust 

   

    

Assessed  Newly 
merged 

93,094 

    

Admitted  Newly 
merged 

97,765 

    

Assessment Rate   95.2% 

    

National Average  95.67% 96.1% 

Best performing Trust  100% 100% 

Worst performing Trust  79.86% 88.4% 
    Source: www.england.nhs.uk 
 

 

    
2.2.1 (ii)  Patient Safety Indicator 2 – The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of 

C.difficile infection reported within the Trust amongst patients aged 2 

or over during 2014/15 

Whilst recognising the new reporting requirements for the purpose of Quality 
Accounts, national data will not be available on the rate of C. difficile reported per 
100,000 bed days until after the publishing date of the Quality Account on 30th June 
2015.

 
The mandatory surveillance reporting is via Public Health England (PHE) who 
collect and publish the data on monthly ‘counts’ as opposed to rate per 100,000 bed 
days. Once per year in July, the PHE publish the data as a rate per 100.000 bed 

Page 63



 

 

days. This data will not be available for the publication of the Trust Quality Account. 
Therefore, the Trust has calculated it rate per 100,000 bed days using the bed 
availability and occupancy data as referenced below. 

 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons 

 
 All cases are reported on the national mandatory enhanced surveillance system. 

The data on this is checked each month prior to sign off by the Chief Executive 

 The Trust has strict control measures in place to monitor and continually 

improve clinical practice and antimicrobial prescribing 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/clostridium-difficile-infection-monthly-data 

  Source for bed days calculation: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-
areas/bed-availability-and-occupancy/bed-data-overnight/ 

 

 The most recent data published by Public Health England is for the monthly counts’ 
of C.difficile. 
The data below demonstrates the mandatory reporting made to Public Health 
England through 2014 – 2015 and also shows data from peer organisations: 

  

C.difficile rate per 100,000 bed-days 
 

 2013/14 2014/15 

    

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust    

    

Trust apportioned  48 37 

    

Total bed days  299,849 328,135 

    

Rate per 100,000 bed days (Trust 
apportioned)  

 16 11.2 

    

National Average  14.7 TBC 

Best performing Trust  1.6 TBC 

Worst performing Trust  37.1 TBC 

Page 64



 

 

 
The table below demonstrates data monthly counts of C. difficile infection by Acute Trust 
for patients aged 2 years and over - Trust Apportioned only* 
 
 

Monthly counts of C. difficile infection for patients aged 2 years and over by Acute Trust - 
Trust Apportioned only* 

  
Reporting Period: April 2014-March 
2015 
  
  

                        

T
ru

s
t 

T
y
p

e
 

P
H

E
 C

e
n

tr
e

 

T
ru

s
t 

N
a
m

e
 

A
p

ri
l 

2
0
1
4

 

M
a
y
 2

0
1

4
 

J
u

n
e
 2

0
1
4

 

J
u

ly
 2

0
1
4

 

A
u

g
u

s
t 

2
0
1

4
 

S
e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
2

0
1
4

 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

2
0

1
4

 

N
o

v
e
m

b
e

r 
2
0

1
4

 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1

4
 

J
a
n

u
a
ry

 2
0

1
5

 

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

 2
0

1
5

 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
5

 

-NHS 
Trust 

London Bart’s Health 6 8 5 5 9 6 6 11 11 9 11  11 

-NHS 
Trust 

London Croydon Health 
Services 

1 1 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 2  1 

FT London Guy's & St. 
Thomas’s 

5 5 8 6 4 5 2 2 2 6 2  4 

FT London Homerton 
University Hospital 

1 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0  1 

FT London King's College 
Hospital 

6 8 10 6 3 6 3 6 6 12 5  6 

-NHS 
Trust 

London Lewisham & 
Greenwich 

1 2 4 1 5 7 4 2 1 2 2  6 

-NHS 
Trust 

London North Middlesex 
University Hospital 

3 6 6 3 5 2 1 4 5 4 3  4 

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/clostridium-difficile-infection-monthly-data 

 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
number, and so the quality of its services by: 
 

 Developing a Trust wide C. difficile action plan 

 continuing to undertake antimicrobial and other ward rounds with the Consultant 

microbiologists and clinical teams 

 Using up to date streamlined antimicrobial prescribing guidelines with monitoring of 

performance against these 

 Maintaining a strong and visible presence at ward level by the Infection Prevention and 

Control Team who monitor compliance with the Saving Lives C. difficile care bundle 

 Continuing the site based multidisciplinary  weekly C. difficile review groups / ward rounds 

which allows for the review of care and progress of any patients with C. difficile 

 Undertaking root cause analysis on all Trust attributable C. difficile cases to allow any 

learning for practice to be understood and shared 

 Continuing to undertake joint audit work with the facilities staff to ensure that on-going 

standards of cleanliness are maintained. 

Page 65



 

 

 

2.2.1 (iii) Patient Safety Indicator 3 – The number and rate of patient safety 

incidents reported within the Trust and the number and percentage of 
such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death for 
2014/15 

 
Number and Rate of Patient Safety Incidents Reported within the Trust 

   
The National Reporting and Learning System([NRLS) was established in 2003. The 
system enables patient safety incident reports to be submitted to a national 
database and is designed to promote learning. 
It is mandatory for NHS trusts in England to report all serious patient safety 
incidents to the Care Quality Commission and therefore, to avoid duplication, all 
incidents resulting in severe harm or death are reported to the NRLS, who then 
report them to the Care Quality Commission. 
 
There is no nationally established and regulated approach to the reporting and 
categorising of patient safety incidents, so different trusts may choose to apply 
different approaches and guidance when reporting categorising and validating 
patient safety incidents. The approach taken to determine the classification of each 
incident, such as those ‘resulting in severe harm or death’, will often rely on clinical 
judgement. This judgement may differ between professions. For this reason, data 
reported by different trusts may not be directly comparable.As Trusts are required to 
report all incidents to NRLS within a two day timeframe (from the time the 
organisation became aware of the incident and the reporting of the incident 
internally), there may be occasions where following full investigation of the incident 
and additional information being obtained, the category and impact of harm of an 
incident will have changed. In these circumstances, the Trust will re-upload the 
information into the NRLS system so that the accurate information is displayed. 
 
All incidents involving severe harm or death were declared and investigated as 
serious incidents and the reports offered to the patient or their family once 
concluded. The implementation of any learning arising from the investigations is 
reported to the governance groups within each clinical Division and the 
sustainability of learning reviewed and monitored via the Trust’s Outcomes With 
Learning group [OWL]. 
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons; 
 

 The trust has a process in place for collating the data on patient safety 
incidents; 

 Data is collated internally and then submitted on a monthly basis to the 
NRLS; 

 Data is compared to peers, highest and lowest performers, and our own 
previous performance as set out in the table below. 

Patient Safety Incidents Oct 13-
Mar 14 

Apr 14-Sept 
14 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust   
   

Total reported incidents 4,915 5,251 
   

Incident reporting rate per 1,00 admission 
Please note change in NRLS reporting for Apr14 to Sept 14 to                                       

16.76  

Page 66



 

 

. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The table below shows the current reporting of patient safety incidents and the number where 
severe harm and death have occurred during the 2014/15 year to date, NRLS published data for 
the period of October 2014 to March 2015 is not available at the time of writing this report. 
 
 
Patient safety incidents reported within the Trust per month 

 
2014 - 

15 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Running 

total 

Number 936 841 935 933 838 1015 1032 949 1066 1061 848 1324 11,778 

 

For the period between April 2013 and March 2014 a total number of 7,322 incidents were reported 

to the NRLS from the Trust, however, this included incidents reported from our merged site Queen 

Elizabeth Hospital Woolwich. It is difficult to assess the previous reporting rate from the Queen 

Elizabeth site as the data was merged within three hospital sites, however, we continue to work on 

encouraging all reporting of incidents. 

 

Patient Safety Incidents where the impact may have caused severe harm or death 

2014 - 15 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

Severe 
harm/death 

2 
 

5 6 6 6 6 4 4 10 3 7 6 65 

 

 
  

Per 1,000 bed days 33.92 
   

Incidents causing severe harm or death 17 34 

% of incidents causing severe harm or death 0.30% 0.60% 

   

Medium Acute Trusts (all Trusts are 
categorised by size) 

  

Lowest incident reporting rate 5.8 0.24 

Highest incident reporting rate 74.9 74.96 

Lowest incidents causing severe harm or death 0% 0% 

Highest incidents causing severe harm or death  2.30% 3.10% 

Acute Trusts average % of incidents causing 
severe harm or death 

0.70% 0.50% 

Page 67



 

 

 

2.2.2 Clinical Effectiveness 

2.2.2 (i)  Clinical Effectiveness Indicator 1 - Summary Hospital-level Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) 

 
The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator or SHMI, is a mortality measure that 
takes account of a number of factors. It includes patients who have dies while having 
treatment in hospital or within 30 days of being discharged from hospital. The SHMI 
score is measured against the NHS average which is 100. A score below 100 
denotes a lower than average mortality rate and therefore indicates good, safe care. 
To help understand the SHMI data, Trusts are categorised into one of three bands: 
 

 Where Trust’s SHMI is ‘higher than expected’ – Band 1 

 Where the Trust’s SHMI is ‘as expected’ – Band 2 

 Where the Trust’s SHMI is ‘lower than expected’  -Band 3 

 
 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust consider that this data is as described 
for the following reasons: 
 

 The Trust has a process in place for collating data on hospital admissions 

from which the SHMI and derived; 

 Data is collated internally and then submitted on a monthly basis to Health 

and Social care Information Centre [HSCIC] via the Secondary User Service 

[SUS]. The SHIMI is then calculated by the HSCIC; 

 Data is compared to peers, highest and lowest performers, as set out in the 

table below. 

Summary 

Hospital-

level 

Mortality 

Indicator 

Jan 13 – Dec 13  

(published July 14) 

Apr 13 – Mar 14  

(published October 

2014) 

Jul 13 – Jun 14 

(published January 

2015) 

 

Oct 13 – Sept 14  

(published April 

2015) 

SHMI Banding SHMI Banding SHMI Banding SHMI Banding 

Lewisham 

and 

Greenwich 

NHS Trust 

99 

Band 2  

‘As 

expected’ 

103 

Band 2  

‘As 

expected’ 

106 

Band 2  

‘As 

expected’ 

 

107 

Band 2 

‘As 

expected’ 

Best 

Performing 

Trust 

62 Band 3 0.53 Band 3 54 Band 3 59 Band 3 

Worst 

Performing 

Trust 

117 Band 1 1.19 Band 1 119 Band 1 119 Band 1 

Page 68



 

 

 
 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
rate and so the quality of its services by 
 
Making certain that the ‘as expected’ SHMI banding achieved by the Trust is sustained and 
through ensuring that any RAMI scores which are higher than expected are reviewed by looking at 
the patient’s coded information. This coded information holds details of what diagnoses, co-
morbidities and procedures the patient had whilst admitted at the Trust. If necessary, a case note 
review is carried out to ensure that the patient did receive the best quality care possible.  
 
When the HSCIC publishes the National SHMI scorings on a quarterly basis, they also publish a 
number of contextual indicators, including the percentage of patients who have died at each trust 
and those who were receiving palliative care. The method used to calculate trusts SHMI score 
currently makes no adjustments for palliative care patients. This means that any trusts which have 
a high number of palliative care patients may appear to have a higher number of deaths than 
expected using the SHMI scoring system. For example, a trust which has an onsite hospice or 
palliative care unit would have a higher number of deaths than other trusts.  
Therefore, this higher number of deaths may not be an indicator of poor care being provided, but 
rather, a reflection of the type of patients that are being treated within that trust.  
 
The percentage of the Trust’s patients with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty 
level for the trust is shown in table below. The table also highlights the highest and lowest 
percentages nationally of palliative care patients treated each reporting period. 
 

 
 
 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust consider that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
 

 Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust treats a number of patients who require palliative care 
and has a specialist palliative care team, and through the continuous work of our End of 
Life care pathways, we have seen a slight increase of patients being coded as palliative 
care patients. We are continuously working on improving our data quality for clinical coding 
and have developed, through reviews of mortality, a new approach to ensure the clinician 
confirms whether the patient should be coded as palliative care. For the purpose of the 
quality accounts we are required to publish data from the national reports, it is difficult to 
compare these rates, as the configuration for cancer services and cancer pathways across 
all NHS organisations is very different. 
 
 

Percentage of deaths with 

palliative care coding 

Jan 13 – Dec 13  

(published July 

14) 

Apr 13 – Mar 14  

(published 

October 2014) 

Jul 13 – Jun 14 

(published 

January 2015) 

 

Oct 13 – Sept 14  

(published April 

2015) 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 

Trust 

 

27.82% 

 

28.71% 

 

29.53% 

 

29.9% 

Lowest percentage Trust 1.3% 6.4% 7.4% 7.5% 

Highest percentage Trust 46.9% 48.5% 49% 49.4% 

Page 69



 

 

 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
rate and so the quality of its services by: 
 

 Ensuring that the Trust’s clinical coding team receive a regular report of those patients who 
have been treated by the palliative care team so that the care being provided is accurately 
reflected in the Trust’s coding which is used as the basis for the palliative care indicator and 
therefore providing context for the SHMI score and the Trust’s overall mortality rating. 

 
  

Page 70



 

 

2.2.2 Clinical Effectiveness 

2.2.2 (ii)  Clinical Effectiveness Indicator 2 – Patient Reported Outcome Measures 

(PROMS) 

Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMS) measure quality from the patient 
perspective, and seek to calculate the health gain experiences by patients following 
one of four clinical procedures. We are reporting on patients who have had a hip 
replacement or a knee replacement.  
 
PROMs data is obtained through a pair of questionnaires completed by the patient, one 
before and one after surgery (at least three months after). Patients’ self-reported health 
status (sometimes referred to as health-related quality of life) is assessed through a 
mixture of generic and disease or condition-specific questions. For example, there are 
questions relating to mobility, self-care, e.g. washing and dressing, usual activities, e.g. 
work, study, house work, family or leisure activities, pain/discomfort or anxiety 
/depression. 

 
 We have not carried out a statistically significant number of varicose vein treatments or 

hernia repairs (defined as fewer than 30 cases) so they are not reported here. 
 

The figure below show the published HSCIC PROMs data for the reporting period up to 
September 2014 
 
 

i) The Table below shows the published PROMS data for the Trust for 

Hip Replacement Surgery 

 
 
  

Average adjusted 

health gain 

April 2013 – March 

2014 

April 2014 – September 

2014  

(published February 

2015) 

Lewisham and 

Greenwich NHS Trust 

0.432 N/A – fewer than 30 

participants 

National Average 0.436 0.442 

Worst Performer 0.342 0.35 

Best Performer 0.545 0.501 

Page 71



 

 

ii) The Table below shows the published PROMS data for the Trust for Knee 

Replacement. 

 
 

Average adjusted 

health gain 

April 2013 – March 

2014 

April 2014 – September 

2014  

(published February 

2015) 

Lewisham and 

Greenwich NHS Trust 

0.264 N/A – fewer than 30 

participants 

National Average 0.323 0.328 

Worst Performer 0.215 0.249 

Best Performer 0.416 0.394 

 

The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust consider that this data is as described 
for the following reasons: 

 

 The published data from HSCIC only covers the reporting period April 2014 – 
September 2015. 

 The Trust has identified that the number of procedures for hernia and varicose vein 
surgery is fewer than that which is statically significant for the recording of data for 
the PROMS. 

 The Trust performance for its PROMS is comparable to the national average for Hip 
replacement surgery and lower for Knee replacement surgery. 

 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust intend to take the following actions to 
improve this rate, and so the quality of its services by: 

 

 The Trust is committed to improving its participation rate for PROMs by 
ensuring that all eligible patients are invited to fill in the PROMs questionnaire 
 

 The Trust intends to achieve this through the following means: 
o A closer scrutiny of the existing systems and processes for identifying 

and inviting patients eligible for participation in PROMs. 
o Switching to an electronic patient tracking system for participation in 

PROMS programme. 
 

 Review the cases where patients have reported a deterioration to understand 
why and identify any areas for improvement in each of the procedure 
processes.

Page 72



 

 

2.1.2 Clinical Effectiveness 

2.1.2 (iv)  Clinical Effectiveness Indicator 3 – Reduction in emergency 

readmissions within 28 days of discharge from hospital .  

 
Emergency readmission to hospital shortly after a previous discharge can be an 
indicator of the quality of care provided by an organisation. Not all emergency 
readmissions are part of the original planned treatment and some may be potentially 
avoidable. Therefore reducing the number of avoidable re-admissions improves the 
overall patient experience of care and releases hospital beds for new admissions.  

 
However the reasons behind a re-admission can be highly complex and a detailed 
analysis is required before it is clear whether a re-admission was avoidable. For 
example, in some chronic conditions, the patient’s care plan may include awareness 
of when his or her condition has deteriorated and for which hospital care is likely to 
be necessary. In such a case, a readmission may itself represent better quality of 
care.   

 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust monitors the readmission rate using the 
national data sources and also through CHKS, an independent leading provider of 
healthcare intelligence.  

 
Currently, the national 28 readmission data is only available up until 2011-12 
The Trust has already reported on it last year as part of the 2013- 14 Quality 
Account. According to the national sources the publication of emergency 
readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge indicators has been 
delayed this year due to the change in contracting arrangements. Though it 
has been indicated that the data may be available sometime later this year, no 
specific timeline has been shared with the Trust. 
 
However, the readmission data for the year 2014-15 is available through CHKS as 
shown in the tables 1, 2, and 3 below.  

 
The peer comparison has also been included to allow the organisation to 
benchmark its performance against peers. The details of the peer group have been 
included for the reference.  

 
The CHKS readmission rates are calculated by dividing the total number of patients 
readmitted within 28 days of discharge by the total number of hospital discharges.  
 
Table 1 below shows that the readmission rate for the Trust was below that of 
peers.  
 
The QEH site (Table3) shows a similar trend for the first quarter of the year 2014-
15, with the readmission rate better than peers. However, the rate is higher than 
peers for the rest of the year.  
 
As part of collaborative working with key partners, admission avoidance, 
management of patients with long term conditions and working with our community 
services is part of the Trust’s on-going strategy to minimising its readmission rates. 
 

 

Page 73



 

 

 
Table1:  Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust readmission within 28 days  

  Apr-14 

May-

14 Jun-14 Jul-14 Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 

Trust  6.2% 6.4% 4.6% 6.1% 6.5% 6.5% 6.9% 6.5% 6.7% 7.3% 6.9% 4.2% 

Peer 7.6% 7.6% 7.3% 7.3% 7.2% 7.4% 6.4% 7.5% 7.9% 6.9% 6.4% 4.6% 

 

 
Table 2 University Hospital Lewisham readmission within 28 days  

  Apr-14 

May-

14 Jun-14 Jul-14 Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 

UHL 5.8% 5.5% 5.1% 6.4% 5.9% 6.1% 5.7% 5.3% 5.1% 6.0% 5.5% 3.7% 

Peer 7.6% 7.6% 7.3% 7.3% 7.1% 7.4% 6.4% 7.5% 7.9% 6.9% 6.4% 4.6% 

 

Table3 Queen Elizabeth Hospital readmission within 28 days  

  Apr-14 

May-

14 Jun-14 Jul-14 Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 

QEH 6.7% 7.6% 4.4% 6.0% 7.7% 7.5% 8.6% 8.2% 8.6% 8.8% 8.5% 4.9% 

Peer 7.6% 7.6% 7.3% 7.3% 7.2% 7.4% 6.4% 7.5% 7.9% 6.9% 6.4% 4.6% 

             

 
CHKS Peer Group 

 
Bart’s Health NHS Trust 

Croydon Health Services NHS Trust 

Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust 

Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

West Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust 

 P
age 74



 

 

 

2.2.3  Patient Experience 
 
2.2.3 (i) Patient Experience Indicator 1- The Trust’s responsiveness to the 

personal needs of the patients 
 

 
The national data presented below is the published data from HSCIC data which 

demonstrates the Trust performance compared to the national average, the highest 

scoring trust and the lowest scoring trust 

 

S

o

u

r

c

e

 

h

t

t

p

s

:

/

/

S

o

SouSource https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/ 

The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 

for the following reasons. 

In 2012 the Trust did some work to try to understand why we did not do very well 
against this set of indicators.  In particular, we analysed all the National Inpatient 
Survey results and the comments that patients made about our services and identified 
some specific issues for patients around the effectiveness of communication. 
 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 

improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by developing an action 

plan to help address some of those specific issues.   

This included work to improve the communication between nurses and patients on the 
wards and to improve communication with patients about their discharge home, and 
work to increase quality monitoring on the wards through increased use of Quality 
Ward Rounds. 

 

 

 

Patient Experience - 

responsiveness to personal 

needs of patients 

2012/13 2013/14 

   

Lewisham and Greenwich 

NHS Trust 

76.5 74.8 

   National Average 71.4 76.9 

Highest scoring Trust 88.2 88.2 

Lowest scoring Trust 68 67.1 

Page 75



 

 

 
Friends and Family Test 
 
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a single question survey which asks patients whether they 
would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and family who need similar 
treatment or care. 
 
The following table shows the latest nationally published results. 

 
Patient 
recommendation 
to family and 
friends 

Feb-
15 

Response  
rate 

Recommendation 
rate 

 Response 
rate 

Recommendation rate 

       

Lewisham and 
Greenwich 
NHS Trust 

A&E 21.50% 89% Inpatient 45.84% 93% 

National Average   21.20% 88%  39.50% 95.00% 

       

Highest scoring 
Trust  

 47% 98%  62.88% 99.00% 

       

Lowest scoring 
Trust 

 1.60% 55%  4.19% 82.00% 

 
The Trust has been working with all of its service leads and with staff to embed the Friends and 
Family Test.  We have worked hard to promote the test using poster displays, staff training and 
handover sessions and identifying Friends and Family Test champions on the wards and in A&E.   
Results of the Friends and Family Test are given to staff so they can see how well they are doing 
and include feedback in any decisions they make about service changes. 
  

Page 76



 

 

 
2.2.3 (ii) Patient Experience Indicator 2 – The percentage of staff employed by 

the Trust who would recommend the Trust as a provider of care to their 
family and friends 

   
 

The annual staff survey is used to understand staff experience and perceptions on a 
wide range of subject areas. The survey is undertaken by all NHS organisations 
enabling comparisons between similar trusts and to compare the experiences of 
staff in a particular trust with the national picture. 
 
The table below demonstrates the overall response to the Staff Friends and Family 
Test for the Test for the 2014 Staff Survey. 

 

 

The table above demonstrates that 57% of those staff who responded would 
recommend the Trust to friends and family and a further 27% of respondents neither 
agreed nor disagreed that they would recommend the Trust to friends and family. 

 

The Following table shows how the Trust performed when compared to national 
results and those which demonstrated the highest and lowest scores. 

 

Staff recommendation to family and friends 
Composite scores for recommendation of 

the trust as a place to work or receive 
treatment 

 
2013 2014 

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 
3.85 3.59 

   National Average  3.67 3.7 

   Highest scoring Trust  4.35* 4.28* 

   Lowest scoring Trust 3.01* 2.99* 

* denotes scores for Acute Trusts only 

    Source: NHS Picker Institute Annual Staff Survey 2014 

 

 

Strongly 

disagree
Disagree

Neither 

agree nor 

disagree

Agree
Strongly 

agree

Base (number of 

respondents)

% % % % % n

5 10 27 43 14 1,397

Lewisham and 

Greenwich NHS 

Trust

2014 Annual Staff 

Survey

Q12

To what extent do these statements reflect your view of your organisation as a whole?

d) If a friend or relative needed treatment I would be happy with the standard of care 

provided by this organisation

Page 77



 

 

 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust consider that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 

  
During 2014, the organisation has been extremely busy and has had a number of significant 
challenges. All staff have been extremely busy undertaking work to address these challenges and 
although much progress has been made, we still have much work to do in our aim to be the 
organisation and employer of choice for staff. 
 
During 2014/15 the Trust has been actively recruiting to fill its vacancies and over 340 nurses have 
been recruited. The Trust has also undertaken its Safer Staffing review and new staffing 
establishments were agreed and implemented for all inpatient areas. 
 
The Trust also launched its first Staff Awards scheme during 2014 to celebrate the success of 
merger and to recognise the continued high performance of staff, The Trust saw over 300 
employees being nominated for their work, commitment and going beyond the ‘call of duty’. 
 
 
The Lewisham and Greenwich  NHS Trust intends to take the following actions to improve 
this rate and so the quality of its services by:  

 
Further analysis of the 2014 staff survey will be undertaken to understand the results fully.  This 
analysis will include: 

 

 Reviewing the data by division, site, staff group, and demographic group where possible. 

 Comparing the outcomes with the Trust wide local survey carried out late 2013. 

 Further interrogation to department/ ward level where useful, using web based portal 

provided by Quality Health, supporting development of local action plans. 

 A detailed communication and action plan will then be drawn up for further discussion and 

implementation.  This will need to be visible and prioritised appropriately to ensure that 

improvements can be achieved 

 Working with our Organisational Development and Human Resources Teams to establish 
a broad staff engagement group representative of the organisation  

 

 Continue to promote staff engagement with all Trust activities, including quality, patient 
and staff priorities 

 

 Creating a working environment where staff are supported to develop and where 
development opportunities are supported 

 

 Continue Staff Briefing sessions with Chief Executive Officer [CEO] and participation from 
staff in Non-Executive and Executive Walkabouts 

 

 Continuation of the production of Weekly Bulletin advocating and celebrating successes of 
the Trust 

Page 78



 

 

2.3 Participation in Clinical Audit 
 

Overview 
 
Participation in Clinical Audits 
 
The Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust are committed to continually improving the healthcare 
we provide to service users. Clinical Audit is a crucial part of the Trusts strategy to improve the 
healthcare we provide.  
 
The Trust uses Clinical Audit to assess and monitor its compliance against national and local 
standards, and to review the healthcare outcomes of its service users. It provides healthcare 
professionals the opportunity to reflect on their individual practice and the wider practices across 
the clinical directorates and the Trust. Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust actively encourages all 
clinical staff and those in training to be involved in Clinical Audit.  
 
The Trusts annual Clinical Audit Programme (CAP) is formulated each year to ensure that the 
Trust meets all mandatory, regulatory and legislative requirements as laid out by the NHS 
governing bodies. It is specifically designed to include all  applicable National Clinical Audit and 
Confidential Enquiries the Trust is eligible to participate in, relevant published National Institute for 
Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance and NICE Quality Standards, and local 
governanceand service level priority topics required to ensure compliance with statutory 
obligations.  
 
  
National Audit and Confidential Enquiries Programme  
 
During April 2014 to March 2015, 44 National Clinical Audits and 5 National Confidential Enquiries 
covered NHS services that Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust provides.  During that period 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust participated in 100% (44/44) National Clinical Audits and 
100% (5/5) National Confidential Enquiries of the National Clinical Audits and National Confidential 
Enquiries which it was identified as eligible to participate in. 

 
The tables below show:  
 

 The National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries that Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust was eligible to participate in during April 2014 to March 2015  

 The National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries that Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed during 
April 2014 to March 2015, are listed alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit 
or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of that 
audit or enquiry. 

Page 79



 

 

Table 1 - National Clinical Audits on the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) Inclusion for the Quality Account  

Audit Title 
Eligible 

UHL 
Eligible 

QEH 
Participated 

UHL 
Participated 

QEH 
Reporting Period 

% 
Submission 
Rate - UHL 

% Submission 
Rate - QEH 

No National Clinical Audits 

1 
  

Acute Myocardial Infarction & Other ACS 
(MINAP) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1st April 2014 – 31
st
 March 2015 In progress In progress 

Acute Myocardial Infarction & Other ACS 
(MINAP Validation Study) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 4
th
 February 2015 – 23

rd
 March 2015 100% 100% 

2 Adult Community Acquired Pneumonia Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 December 2014 – 31

st
 January 2015 In progress In progress 

3 Adult Critical Care (ICNARC CMPD) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 March 2015 100% 100% 

4 Bowel Cancer (National Bowel Cancer Audit) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2012 – 31

st
 March 2013 100% 69%* 

5 
Cardiac Arrhythmia (Cardiac Rhythm 
Management Audit) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2013 – 31

st
 March 2014 62 cases 203 cases 

6 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) – Secondary Care 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 February 2014 – 30

th
 April 2014 78 cases 53 cases 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) – Pulmonary Rehabilitation 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 12
th
 January 2015 – 10

th
 April 2015 In progress In progress 

7 Coronary Angioplasty (PCI) No Yes N/A Yes 1
st
 January 2013 – 31

st
 December 2013 N/A 99% 

8 Diabetes (National Adult Diabetes Audit) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2013 – 31

st
 March 2014 In progress In progress 

9 Diabetes - Pregnancy in Diabetes (NPID) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2014 - 31

st
 January 2015 25 cases 18 cases 

10 
Diabetes (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes 
Audit) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2013 – 31

st
 March 2014 100% 100% 

11 
Elective Surgery (National PROMS 
Programme) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2013 – 31

st
 March 2014 70.8% 

Audit Title 
Eligible 

UHL 
Eligible 

QEH 
Participated 

UHL 
Participated 

QEH 
Reporting Period 

% 
Submission 
Rate – UHL 

% Submission 
Rate – QEH P

age 80



 

 

No National Clinical Audits 

12 Epilepsy 12 (Childhood Epilepsy) Yes Yes Yes Yes 

1
st
 January 2013 – 12

th
 May 2014 – 

Service Descriptor Questionnaire 
100% 100% 

Clinical Audit 15 cases 0 cases 

PREM Responses  0 responses 10 responses 

13 
Falls and Fragility Fractures (Inpatient Falls 
Audit Pilot) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 10
th
 February 2014 – 17

th
 February 2014 100% 100% 

14 
Falls and Fragility Fractures (National Hip 
Fracture Database) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2013 – 31

st
 December 2013 185 cases 279 cases 

15 Fitting Child (College of Emergency Medicine) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 August 2014 – 31

st
 January 2015 100% 100% 

16 Heart Failure Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2012 – 31

st
 March 2013 79% 261 cases* 

17 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease – Adult  Yes Yes Yes Yes 
12

th
 September 2011 – 28

th
 February 

2015 
29 cases 3 cases 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease – Paediatric Yes No Yes N/A 
12

th
 September 2011 – 28

th
 February 

2015 
In progress N/A 

18 Intermediate Care Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 May 2014 – 31

st
 August 2014 98% 

19 Lung Cancer (NLCA) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2013 – 31

st
 December 2013 

≥75% 
304 cases 

<50%  
170 cases* 

20 
Mental Health (College of Emergency 
Medicine) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 August 2014 – 31

st
 January 2015 100% 100% 

21 National Cardiac Arrest Audit  Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 March 2015 100% 100% 

22 
National Comparative Audit of Blood 
Transfusion – Patient Information and 
Consent 

Yes Yes No Yes 13
th
 January 2014 – 4

th
 April 2014 0% 100% 

Audit Title 
Eligible 

UHL 
Eligible 

QEH 
Participated 

UHL 
Participated 

QEH 
Reporting Period 

% 
Submission 
Rate – UHL 

% Submission 
Rate – QEH 

No National Clinical Audits 

P
age 81



 

 

*Data submission and audit participation rates for Queen Elizabeth Hospital are published under South London Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

  

23 
National Comparative Audit of Blood 
Transfusion – Red Cell Survey 2014  

Yes Yes Yes Yes 24
th
 February 2014 – 18

th
 May 2014 100% 100% 

24 
National Comparative Audit of Blood 
Transfusion – Transfusion in Sickle Cell – 
Cycle 1 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 September 2014 – 30

th
 January 2015 100% 100% 

25 National Emergency Laparotomy Audit Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2014 – 30

th
 November 2014 73% 59% 

26 National Joint Registry Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2013 – 31

st
 December 2013 

102% 

287 cases 61 cases 

27 Neonatal Intensive and Special Care (NNAP) Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2014 – 31

st
 December 2014 100% 100% 

28 Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2011 – 31

st
 March 2013 61% - 80% 

29 
Older People (College of Emergency 
Medicine) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 August 2014 – 31

st
 January 2015 100% 100% 

30 Parkinson’s Disease Yes Yes Yes Yes 
4

th
 February 2015 – 30

th
 September 

2015 
In progress In progress 

31 Pleural Procedures Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 June 2014 – 31

st
 July 2014 100% 100% 

32 Prostate Cancer No Yes N/A Yes 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 July 2014 N/A 73 cases 

33 Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 February 2014 – 30

th
 April 2015 

88 
questionnaires 

24 
questionnaires 

34 
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 
(SSNAP) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 March 2015 

74% 
144 cases 

81% 
69 cases 

35 
Severe Trauma (Trauma Audit & Research 
Network) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2014 – 31

st
 December 2014 

50% 
94 cases 

56% 
48 cases 

P
age 82



 

 

Table 2: Audits on the HQIP list no longer collecting data in 2014-15 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

Audit Title 

1 Adult Bronchiectasis 

2 NaDIA – Diabetes Inpatient Audit 

3 Familial Hypercholesterolaemia 

4 National Audit of Dementia 

5 National Audit of Seizure Management (NASH) 

6 Non-Invasive Ventilation (NIV) 

7 Paediatric Pneumonia 

Page 83



 

 

Table 3 – National Confidential Enquiries on the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) Inclusion for the  Quality Account  

  

Enquiry Title 
Eligible 

UHL 
Eligible 

QEH 
Participated 

UHL 
Participated 

QEH 
Reporting Period 

% 
Submission 
Rate – UHL 

% 
Submission 
Rate – QEH 

No National Confidential Enquiry 

1 
Maternal, Infant and Newborn Clinical 
Outcome Review (MBBRACE) 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 March 2015 100% 100% 

2 
NCEPOD – Death Following Lower Limb 
Amputation 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Organisational Questionnaire 100% 100% 

No Yes N/A Yes Clinician Questionnaires N/A 100% 

No Yes N/A Yes Case Note Extracts N/A 100% 

3 NCEPOD – Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage 

Yes Yes Yes No Organisational Questionnaire 100% 100% 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Clinician Questionnaires 100% 86% 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Case Note Extracts 100% 100% 

4 NCEPOD – Tracheostomy Care 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Organisational Questionnaire 100% 100% 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Clinician Questionnaires 93% 64% 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Case Note Extracts 100% 100% 

5 NCEPOD – Sepsis  Yes Yes Yes Yes 6
th
 May 2014 – 20

th
 May 2014 

80% 
In progress 

100% 
In progress 

P
age 84



 

 

Table 4 – Additional National Clinical Audits that Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Participated in during 2014-2015 

  
** This audit will be continuing for 3 years.  

 

 
 
   

Audit Title 
Eligible 

UHL 
Eligible 

QEH 
Participated 

UHL 
Participated 

QEH 
Reporting Period 

% 
Submission 
Rate – UHL 

% 
Submission 
Rate – QEH 

No National Clinical Audits 

1 BHIVA – Survey on Pregnancy Yes Yes Yes No 1
st
 April 2014 – 25

th
 July 2014 100% 100% 

2 Cardiac Rehabilitation Audit Yes No Yes N/A 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 May 2015 

100% 
In progress 

N/A 

3 Complicated Diverticulitis Audit Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 July 2014 – 28

th
 February 2015 100% 100% 

4 Diabetes – Morbidity and Mortality Review Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 September 2014  - 9

th
 January 2015 100% 

5 Hepatitis B in Pregnancy Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 April 2014 – 31

st
 March 2015 In progress In progress 

6 ORCHESTRA – Orchidopexy Audit Yes No Yes N/A 
1

st
 September 2014 – 30

th
 November 

2014 
In progress  N/A 

7 RCOG – Each Baby Counts Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2015 – 30

th
 June 2015** In progress In progress 

8 BAD Paediatric Eczema Audit Yes Yes Yes Yes 1
st
 January 2015 – 13

th
 March 2015 100% 

9 HiSLAC – Point Prevalence Study Yes Yes Yes Yes  47 surveys 

P
age 85



 

 

Reviewing Reports of National Clinical Audits 
 
The reports of all National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries are  reviewed by the 
Clinical Effectiveness Department before being disseminated to all appropriate clinical leads and 
senior managers. All recommendations made as a result of a National Clinical Audit or National 
Confidential Enquiry are highlighted to the clinical leads and any actions identified are presented at 
the appropriate committee and service area for review, action and monitoring. A highlight report 
from each committee meeting is sent to the Trust Board for information and review. 
 
The reports of National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiries were reviewed by Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust between January 2014 to December 2014 and some of the actions that 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust will be taking to improve quality are detailed below: 

 
Trauma Audit and Research Network (TARN) – The Trust has employed a dedicated data 
analyst on each of the acute hospital sites to increase and improve the quality of data submissions 
to this annual audit. Focussed work has already seen an increase in the number and quality of 
cases submitted to the audit.   
 
National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) – Both University Hospital Lewisham (UHL) and 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) were highlighted as an outlier in 2012 for the proportion of babies 
with appropriate Retinopathy Of Prematurity (ROP) screening (UHL 63% and QEH 33% against a 
100% standard). In total 65 units were identified as an outlier to this question in 2012. Adherence 
to this standard has improved greatly in the 2013 audit with both UHL and QEH achieving a 97% 
adherence to the standard.  

 
Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute Myocardial Infarction (MINAP) – The number of nSTEMI 
patients admitted to a cardiac unit or ward in the 2013-14 audit has almost doubled since 2012-13. 
University Hospital Lewisham admitted 47.4% of patients to a cardiac unit or ward (compared to 
28.7% in 2012-13) and Queen Elizabeth Hospital admitted 21.7% (compared to 10.6% in 2012-13). 
This is still below the National Average of 53% in 2012-13 and 56% in 2013-14 and work will 
continue in 2015-16 to improve the availability of dedicated cardiac beds for patients being 
admitted with Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute Myocardial Infarction. 
 
National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD) – The performance at University Hospital Lewisham 
(UHL) was identified as having deteriorated since the previous year’s audit. An Orthogeriatric 
operational group was convened by the Medical Director to review mortality and performance, and 
identify areas of potential weakness with the aim of improving the quality of care, and outcomes for 
all patients admitted to the Trust with hip fractures.  The group reviewed three years’ worth of data 
to identify trends and produced an action plan to improve performance that was monitored via the 
Divisional level Governance committees and the Trust Quality and Safety Committee.  
Areas of good practice identified by the audit include the high number of patients returning home 
within 30 days at Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) Woolwich and the above national average 
compliance with specialist assessments provided to patients; Falls assessment 100% at UHL, 
99.5% at QEH against a national figure of 94.6%. Also the number of pressure ulcers grade 2 and 
above developed during admission was well below the National figure of 2.9% at 0.6% for UHL and 
0.4% for QEH respectively.  
 
 
  

Page 86



 

 

 
Clinical Service area local audits and reports of local audit recommendations and changes 
to practice 

 
The reports of 329 local audits were reviewed by the Trust between April 2014 to March 2015. The 
examples below taken from across the Trust demonstrate some of the actions taken to improve the 
quality of our services. A full list of the local audits reviewed is attached in Appendix 3 

 

Children’s Services – The Oncology Dieticians at Queen Elizabeth Hospital Woolwich have been 
instrumental in the introduction of a new meal system following feedback from patients on the less 
than satisfactory quality of meals and snacks on offer in the oncology children’s ward. The 
introduction of the new system has been complimented by patients, there are more food choices at 
meal and snack times, and they have provided feedback stating it has improved their experience in 
hospital.  

 

Cystic Fibrosis – The Cystic Fibrosis (CF) team at University Hospital Lewisham implemented a 
personalised text message reminder that was sent to patients who Did Not Attend (DNA) adult CF 
clinic appointments. The messages included details of upcoming appointments including the time 
of the appointment to ensure that those patients known to be colonised with pan-resistant 
organisms did not cross-infect those without these organisms. DNA rates in the adult CF clinic 
improved from 23.5% before the introduction of the text message reminder to 5.1% afterwards. 
The CF team continue to utilise this system.  

 

Paediatric Anaesthesia – An initial audit in 2011 reported that 51% of parents and carers at 
University Hospital Lewisham identified that their child’s overall operative experience could be 
improved by receiving more preoperative anaesthetic information. Following this audit the 
Anaesthetic Team provided copies of the Royal College of Anaesthetists (RCoA) Information 
leaflets explaining to all parents and guardians of children the process for general anaesthetic. 
Links to the RCoA website were also provided for parents and children to access copies of the 
leaflets online. The re-audit in 2014 reported that only 15% of parents and carers felt they required 
more information about anaesthetic. Work continues to improve this figure in 2015. 

 

Trauma – The Anaesthetics and Orthopaedics teams are working in conjunction to improve 
patients experience pre-operatively by refining fasting times, particularly in relation to the provision 
of clear fluids. An initial audit in 2014 identified that patients were attending trauma theatre with 
prolonged fasting times. In line with the Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland 
(AAGBI) guidelines, patients are now being offered limited clear fluids up until 2 hours prior to the 
procedure and a light breakfast is being provided for patients on an afternoon operating list.  

 

Maternity – Following an audit to determine practice and adherence to local and national guidance 
with bladder care, the Maternity Division hosted a ‘Bladder Care Week’. Throughout this week 
various events were held to promote to staff the importance of bladder care following delivery and 
good documentation. A protocol has been developed within the Division to further support this work 
and further training sessions are being made available to continue promoting good practice and 
raising awareness amongst staff.  

 

Podiatry – A joint podiatry and physiotherapy service was set up in 2012 with the aim of reducing 
the waiting time for non-complex patients to receive orthotic prescription whilst receiving 
physiotherapy treatment. Run by a senior physiotherapist and senior podiatrist an evaluation of the 
service in 2013 identified the clinic had reduced the wait times for patients to be seen by a 
podiatrist when referred by a physiotherapist from 18 weeks to 4 weeks. In 2014 a further 
evaluation of the service noted a reduction in the average total patient contact time in podiatry had 
reduced from an average 5.98 sessions (in 2012) down to 1.98 sessions as a consequence of 
more rapid access to the joint clinic service and immediate access to the podiatry department for 

Page 87



 

 

review appointments. This has resulted in a more tailored treatment plan to meet the patient’s 
actual needs/requirements.  

 

Paediatric Emergency Department – A new discharge checklist has been developed by the 
Consultants in the Emergency Department to ensure all children with asthma are provided with a 
care plan when being discharged home following an attendance with acute exacerbation of 
asthma. In addition to follow up actions that may be required at home it also signposts children and 
their carers to services in the community that can support them in the first instance, with the aim of 
reducing unnecessary attendances to the Emergency Department.  

 

  

Page 88



 

 

 
2.4  Participation in Research 
 
Overview 
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust strongly encourages participation in research as part of its 
commitment to providing healthcare services that are evidence-based. In a wider context, greater 
collaboration between NHS trusts and the life-sciences industry is a high-level NHS objective so 
the Trust is further developing its commercial research.  
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, research activity is led by the R&D Director, two Associate 
R&D Directors, Head of R&D and supported by the Associate Director of Workforce and Education.   
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust works collaboratively with the London South Comprehensive 
Research Network (CRN) whose remit includes the Trust’s research in rheumatology, paediatrics, 
age and aging, neurology, critical care, dermatology, respiratory medicine and more recently 
Hepatology, Gastroenterology, Women’s Health, Cardiology, Diabetes, Epilepsy and HIV. In 
addition, the Trust also hosts commercial research and supports a small number of other projects 
either forming part of a staff member’s higher degree, or led by a local investigator in an area key 
to the Trust. 
 
The NIHR Clinical Research Network comprised of 15 NIHR Local Clinical Research Networks.  
The network for the South London area is known as the NIHR Clinical Research Network (CRN): 
South London. 
 
The CRN South London is made up of 30 Specialty Groups across a broad range of clinical areas. 
It incorporates the existing London (South) Comprehensive Local Research Network (CLRN) 
together with Topic Specific Networks, such as the South East London Cancer Research 
(SELCRN), the Greater London Primary Care Research Network, the South East Stroke Research 
Network and the London and South East Medicines for Children Research Network (MCRN). 
 
The Trust’s research portfolio continues to expand, with an increase in the number of research 
studies opened and in the number of patients recruited into studies. The Trust continues to focus 
on studies that are of good quality and are relevant to the needs of the population it serves. This 
has been done by working collaboratively with the Comprehensive Research network (CRN).  
 
The Trust conducted 128 active research studies in 2014-15. As stated below, 672 patients were 
recruited to participate in research studies approved by a research ethics committee.  
 
Statement of Patient Participation in Research 
 
Six hundred and seventy two patients whose care was provided or subcontracted by Lewisham 
and Greenwich NHS Trust were recruited to clinical research approved by a research ethics 
committee during 2014-15. 
 
Participation in Clinical Research 
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust continue to contribute to the achievement of the 
Government’s vision to embed research into every sector of healthcare. Now, more than ever, the 
Research and Development department of the Trust is committed to partnering with staff members 
and patients to promote research and ultimately, evidence-based healthcare. Therefore, 
participation in clinical research is a further demonstration of the Trust’s commitment towards 
improving the quality of care we offer and the contribution and commitment that staff make to 
ensure successful patient outcomes. 
 

Page 89



 

 

The Trust R&D Department have actively engaged with local NHS organisations and the South 
London CRN to streamline R&D Governance processes against nationally-adopted metrics 
designed to improve delivery of study recruitment. 
 
The current portfolio for 2014-15 is 128 research projects that have been active within the Trust. 
These have spanned a number of different specialties (see figure below). 
 
Research Active studies by CRN Divisions: 
 

 

 
Division 1:  Cancer 
Division 2:  Diabetes, Stroke, Cardiovascular, renal, metabolic and Endocrine Disorders 
Division 3:  Children, genetics, Haematology, Paediatrics, reproductive Health and Childbirth 
Division 4:  Dendron, Mental Health and Neurology 
Division 5:   Primary Care, Age and Aging, Dentistry, Health Services Research, Public  
         Health, MSK, Dermatology.  
Division 6:  Anaesthesia/Peri-operative Medicine and Pain management, critical care,  

Injuries/Emergencies, Surgery, ENT, Infectious Disease/Microbiology, Ophthalmology, 
Respiratory, Gastroenterology, Hepatology 

 
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has continued to work closely with the CRN Cancer Division 
to provide access to cancer research locally. This allows patients to be offered the opportunity to 
participate in research nearer to their home.   
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has been highlighted for its success in recruiting to target 
with the CRN in 2014-15; it is very much anticipated that this growth and success to recruiting to 
clinical trials will continue From the merger of Queen Elizabeth Hospital. 
 
The commitment of  consultants and other health professionals at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 
Trust to support and promote clinical trials  highlights the dedication of Trust staff and the 
continued efforts to ensure that as many patients as possible are offered the opportunity to 
participate in research relevant to them without having to travel to other organisations. This further 
emphasises the on-going commitment to improving the health and care of patients through the 
establishment of a robust research base. 
 
 

 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Page 90



 

 

Patients recruited to studies by CRN Divisions: 
 

 
Division 1:  Cancer 
Division 2:  Diabetes, Stroke, Cardiovascular, renal, metabolic and Endocrine Disorders 
Division 3:  Children, genetics, Haematology, Paediatrics, reproductive Health and Childbirth 
Division 4:  Dendron, Mental Health and Neurology 
Division 5:   Primary Care, Age and Aging, Dentistry, Health Services Research, Public  
         Health, MSK, Dermatology.  
Division 6:  Anaesthesia/Peri-operative Medicine and Pain management, critical care,  

Injuries/Emergencies, Surgery, ENT, Infectious Disease/Microbiology, 
Ophthalmology, Respiratory, Gastroenterology, Hepatology 

 
 
Going forward, it is expected the continued growth of the research portfolio within the Trust will 
maintain momentum so that research remains an important and integral part of the services we 
provide at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust.  
 
Setting the Benchmark for Best Practice 
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust hosted stands on both its main acute sites for International 
Clinical Trials Day. This gives the R&D Team the opportunity to talk to patients and staff about the 
new ‘OK to ask me!’ campaign spearheaded by Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust and the 
CRN. 
 
The ‘It’s OK to ask me!’ campaign was launched on May 30th, 2014.  The aim of this campaign is 
to inform and empower patients to be proactive in seeking involvement in clinical trials; it also gives 
researchers and clinicians the opportunity to further engage with patients and the public.  
 
Further evidence of setting the benchmark for best practice, the ‘OK to ask me!’ campaign has 
been adopted by neighbouring District General Hospitals across South London, since its launch at 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust. 

  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

D-1 D-2 D-3 D-4 D-5 D-6

Page 91



 

 

2.5 Goals agreed with Commissioners (CQUINs)
 

A proportion (2.5%) of Trust’s income in 2014-2015 was conditional on achieving quality 
improvement and innovation [CQUIN] goals agreed between Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 
and Lewisham, Greenwich and Bexley Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England 
 
 
The Trust achieved 88.025 % of its CQUIN goals for April 2014 – March 2015 &  
Add in reference to website for CQUIN Goals 15/16 when agreed. 

 
 

2.6 What others say about the provider  

 
Care Quality Commission (CQC)  

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and 
its current registration status is ‘registered without conditions’. 
 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Lewisham and Greenwich 
NHS Trust in 2014-2015. 
 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust is subject to periodic reviews by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and the last review was on the 26th, 27th and 28th February 2014. 
 
The CQC reports can be viewed via the following link: http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RJ2/reports 
 
A comprehensive plan was developed around the improvements needed, and actions were formed 
detailing how the Trust was to address all of the improvement needed and the timescales in which 
to complete this. The plan is monitored internally by the Board and externally by our health 
economy partners. 
 
To date (2nd April 2015), the Trust has completed 91% of its actions overall.  Many of the 
completed actions have already made an impact – the formation of discharge lounge, a transport 
lounge and an operational clinical decision unit at Queen Elizabeth Hospital has enabled patients 
to be seen quicker when they arrive and has provided a comfortable space for them to wait before 
they leave – freeing up beds for more patients to arrive.  
 

 
 

 
The remaining actions within the plan include the implementation of a pathway specifically 
designed to care for frail elderly patients, ensuring that our most vulnerable patients are cared for 

Completed Actions

On Target for

completion

Page 92



 

 

in specially designed areas; completion of an extensive recruitment plan for additional consultants 
and the completion of the plan for our Ambulatory Unit. 
 

Page 93



 

 

2.7 Data Quality 

Quality data is data that is: 

 
Confidential, accurate, valid (that is adheres to an agreed list of codes/descriptions consistently 
understood and used across an organisation, comprehensive in its coverage, delivered to a 
timescale that fits the purpose for which it is used and held both securely and confidentially. 

 
The Trust measures many different aspects of Data Quality – from the presence of a General 
Practitioner and NHS Number recorded within a patient record, to the detail and depth within the 
clinical coding associated with an admission. 

 
Data quality is taken very seriously by the Trust as it can impact on the quality of patient care 
provided to patients. The Trust’s Data Quality scorecard shows performance against key targets, 
and is used to identify areas for improvement. The scorecard, which contains over 90 measures, is 
updated on a monthly basis, and key Data Quality metrics are included on the Trust Board 
scorecard.  
 
Work continues looking at the Trust’s depth of clinical coding, which is often used as a proxy for 
the complexity of the condition / how ill patients admitted to the Trust are.  
 
NHS Number and General Medical practice Code Validity 
 
The Trust submits data to the Secondary Uses Service (SUS) to support the commissioning and 
billing process and is also included in the Hospital Episode Statistics. The Trust monitors the data 
quality of the SUS data, and the percentage of records in the published data: 
 
The performance for 2014/15 is outlined below: 
 
 
which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:  

99.69% for admitted care; - UHL = 99.39%, QEH = 100.00% 

  

99.53% for out-patient care; - UHL = 99.54%, QEH = 99.52% 

  

97.16% for accident and emergency care; – UHL = 96.81%, QEH = 97.51% 

  

Which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code: 

100% for admitted care; - UHL = 100%, QEH = 100% 

  

100% for out-patient care; - UHL = 100%, QEH = 99.99% 

  

100% for accident and emergency care; – UHL = 100%, QEH = 100% 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 94



 

 

2.8 Information Governance Toolkit 

 
 
Information Governance (IG) is the way in which the NHS handles all organisational information – 
in particular the personal and sensitive information of patients and employees. It requires 
organisations and individuals to ensure that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 
efficiently and effectively, in order to deliver the best possible care. 
 
The Information Governance Toolkit published by the Department of Health provides the standards 
against which healthcare services are required to measure their Information Governance 
performance. This year (March 2015) the Trust has achieved an overall score of 75% and has 
been graded as satisfactory. 
 
 

2.9 Clinical Coding 
 
Payment By Results 
 
Payment by Results (PbR) is the method by which the Trust receives payment for patients seen 
and treated within the Acute setting. Each patient’s condition, what treatment they received, how 
they were treated and how long they were in hospital for is used to allocate each patient to a 
nationally agreed category. The categories, which are called Healthcare Resource Groups (HRGs), 
have a national tariff which is used to determine the amount that the Trust is reimbursed for patient 
care. The HRGs are based on the Clinical Coding recorded against each episode of care, it is 
important that the coding is accurate so that the Trust is not over or under paid. In addition to this, 
the coded data forms part of the patients clinical record and is used to help identify where 
improvements in service can be made. The data is also submitted nationally to the Secondary Use 
Service (SUS) , who collect national data to allow them to look at trends and patterns across the 
NHS as a whole 
 
The Trust did not have its Admitted Patient Care Clinical Coding audited as part of any national 
audit programme in 2014/15.  
However, a number of internal Clinical Coding audits as well as a clinical coding audit 
commissioned by our three local CCGs were undertaken to look at any changes in Trust coding 
practice since the organisational change (merger) in 2013/14. The Trust is awaiting Commissioner 
feedback around actions / action plans following this audit. The report that supported the audit 
identified areas for improvement but did not identify any change in Clinical Coding practice over 
time.  
 
The CCG commissioned audit was targeted at areas that commissioners were interested in for 
various reasons (high volumes, public health agenda and high cost) , and the results cannot be 
taken to be representative of Trust coding quality. The Trust achieved IG Toolkit Level 2 for Clinical 
Coding in 2014/15 
 
The results demonstrated the following: 
 

Site 

Area 

ALL 

Qtr (Q4 
13/14 or 

Q1 14/15) Spells 

HRG 
Change / 
error rate 

Primary 
Diag.  

correct 
% 

Secondary 
Diag - 

correct % 

Primary 
Proc – 
correct 

% 

Secondary 
Proc – 

correct % 
 

ALL ALL ALL 317 7.3 % 89% 90.5% 94.5% 82.4% 

National comparator  - Median (Capita  PbR 
audit data 2012/13) 

7.0 91.2% 88.6% 93.3% 82.6% 

 

Page 95



 

 

 
The Trust also has a programme of internal coding audit and has appointed a trainee auditor to 
support the Trust coding auditor. Senior coders review coding with clinicians to help understand 
local practice to ensure the clinical coding accurately reflects casemix. 
 
Divisional leads also work with clinical teams in their areas to review coding on a regular basis to 
identify coding errors and to educate clinicians about how coders translate clinical documentation 
into the codes and classifications (ICD and OPCS) allocated to Trust activity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 96



 

 

 Part 3 
 

3.0 REVIEW OF QUALITY PERFORMANCE in 2014/15 
 
3.1.1 Priority 1 Embedding the new organisational culture 

Our quality priorities and 
why we chose them 
 

 What success will look 
       like 

How did we do? 

3.1.1. (i) Development of 
the Clinical Strategy 
 
We can see substantial 
opportunities to improve our 
services as one Trust 
operating across two sites. 
Currently some of our 
services, including our 
emergency care pathway, do 
not meet the high 
expectations we and others 
have of us. An aim of this 
plan is to enable us to level 
up the quality of our services 
across our acute sites and 
then to improve them still 
further. 

- Continued 
development of our 
clinical strategy 

- Delivery of year 1 of 
the Clinical Strategy 

- Improvements to  
elements of the 
emergency care 
pathway & diagnostics 

- We partially achieved this. 
- We are continuing to develop our Five Year 

Clinical Strategy and have delivered on a 
number of improvements to the emergency care 
pathway.  

- We have scoped the entire emergency care 
pathway and have worked on a number of areas 
which can cause delays. 

- We have created extra bed capacity on the QEH 
site and have established a model of Rapid 
Assessment and Treatment 

- We have established the role of emergency flow 
co-ordinators, to ensure the flow of patients is 
managed appropriately. 

- We have developed a Clinical Decision Unit and 
discharge lounge on the QEH site and have 
expanded and extended the discharge lounge at 
the UHL site.  

- We have also developed Surgical Assessment 
Units on both sites 

- We have created an additional 24 Stroke beds at 
the UHL site, bringing  together all of the Trust’s 
management of Stroke patients onto one site 

- We have developed robust processes for 
managing medical fit patients and have 
established Healthcare at Home provision for 
those patients requiring additional packages of 
care. 

- We have reduced our waiting times for 
diagnostics in four modalities and will continue 
this work as we work towards seven day working 
in radiology services. 

   

3.1.1. (ii) Promoting a 
culture of ‘Putting patients 
first’ with care and 
compassion in nursing 
 
The publication of the 
Francis report in 2013 has 
drawn attention back to the 
basics of care ensuring that 
patients are treated with 
dignity and respect, are 
adequately fed and hydrated 
and ensuring that we give 
every patient the best 
possible care. 

- Delivery and 
implementation of 
the Nursing and 
Midwifery Strategy 
priorities 

- We achieved this 
- The Trust Nursing and Midwifery Strategy was 

launched in May 2014 during the Trust’ 
International Nurses Day events. 

- Introduction of the ‘Sage and Thyme 
communication training is being rolled out across 
the Trust. It is included in the preceptorship 
programme for all newly qualified staff. 

- We have implemented band 5 and band 6 
development programmes across the Trust and 
have a planned programme for delivery for all 
Band 7 Ward leaders 

- All support staff across the Trust have access to 
a HCA induction programme and a range of 
apprenticeship programmes 

- All elements within our strategy are part of every 
nurses/midwives induction 

Page 97



 

 

- We have developed  a programme to instil our 
core values and behaviours which is being rolled 
across all wards and departments 

- We have developed  a core Clinical Indicator set 
for Nursing and Midwifery that is able to 
demonstrate the quality of nursing and midwifery 
care  

- We publish core and service specific Clinical 
Indicators sets openly and transparently using 
the “Knowing How we are Doing Boards” to 
reflect this information on a ward/ department 
basis. 

- We have developed  Board quality walk arounds 
with Senior Nursing and Non-Executive and 
Executive teams. These form part of our internal 
quality inspections 

- We continue to share patient feedback and 
stories to help us improve services and care 
delivery 

- We continue with our on-going partnership with 
our two higher education institutes, Kings 
College London and the University  of 
Greenwich to ensure positive learning 
experiences for students nurses and midwives in 
the Trust 

   

3.1.1. (iii) Promoting a 
workforce which has the 
right staff, with the right 
skills in the right place, 
focussing on Nursing and 
Midwifery for 2014–2015 
 
Nationally nursing and 
midwifery staffing levels had 
been under significant 
scrutiny since the publication 
of the Francis report (2013), 
which identified 
unacceptable delays in 
addressing the issues of 
shortage of skilled nursing 
staff.  
 

- Reduction in Nursing 
and Midwifery vacancy 
levels 

- Implementation of 
Return to practice 
Programme 

- Implementation of the 
Acuity and 
Dependency Tool. 

- The Trust has successfully implemented the 
Return to Practice programme in partnership 
with the University of Greenwich. To date seven 
applicants have been successful and five more 
applicants are about to commence the 
programme. 

- The Safer Nursing Tool has been successfully 
implemented across the Trust and we have 
undertaken bi-annual safer staffing reviews 
using the acuity and dependency tool. We have 
further work to do to embed acuity and 
dependency into everyday clinical practice and 
the coming year we will integrate this within our 
e-rostering tool. 

 
- The Trust vacancy levels for Nursing and 

Midwifery have dramatically reduced from 
2013/14 and a successful overseas recruitment 
programme has assisted with filling long term 
vacant posts. 

 

- In March 2014 there were 303.37 Registered 
nursing vacancies and in March 2015 this has 
reduced to 220.07 

     Vacancies in non-registered nursing posts were 
35.21 in March 2014 and reduced to 14.9 in 
March 2015 

     In midwifery, there were 51.57 vacant posts for 
registered midwives, this had reduced to 37.49 in 
March 2015. For midwifery support roles, the 
level of vacancies was 16.12 in March 2014, 
which had reduced to 6.02 in March 2015. 

 
 

      

3.1.1 (iv) Care Quality 
Commission action plan 

- Implementation of all 
year 1 actions within 

- We have achieved this for year 1. 
- All planned actions with the timeframe for 

Page 98



 

 

 
In February 2014, the new 
organisation was inspected 
by the Care Quality 
Commission [CQC] under 
the new method of 
inspections. 
In May 2014, the Trust 
received its CQC report on 
the inspection which 
identified a number of areas 
which required. 

our CQC action Plan delivery by May 2015 have been completed. 
- The Trust action plan and progress can be 

accessed via the Trust website 

 
  

Page 99



 

 

 

 
3.1.2 Priority 2 Patient Safety 

 
Our quality priorities and 
why we chose them 
 

 What success will look 
        like 

How did we do? 

3.1.2. (i) Patient Safety 
Incidents reported 
 
Patient Safety relates to 
treating and caring for 
people in a safe environment 
and protecting them from 
avoidable harm. 
A priority within the Trust’s 
patient safety strategy was 
to continue to encourage 
staff to report incidents, 
ensure everyone knows how 
to report an incident, and 
what to expect afterwards. It 
was therefore crucial that a 
culture was fostered within 
healthcare organisations 
where staff feel comfortable 
to raise concerns and to 
report adverse events, 
without fear that they will be 
derided or punished for 
doing so. 

- Increase in reporting 
of overall numbers of 
Patient Safety 
Incidents and 
identifying trends 

- Reporting of the rate 
of patient safety 
incidents per 100 
admissions 

- Reporting of Never 
Events and sharing 
the learning across 
the organisation 

- Reporting of rate and 
percentage of 
reported incidents 
which result in 
severe harm or 
death 

- Reporting response 
times to Serious 
Incidents to improve 
the turnaround time. 

- Increased in 
reporting evidence of 
the Being Open 
(Duty 
of Candour) process 
for patient safety 
incidents involving 
significant harm 
(moderate, or severe 
harm or death) 

- We have achieved this. 
- Our reporting rate has increased across the 

trust and the rates can be seen on page 1. The 
rate of incidents resulting in no harm has 
increased by 8% to 78% and the rates for 
incidents resulting in low and moderate harm 
have also decreased. We have seen an 
increase in the reporting of incidents where 
severe harm may have resulted and we now 
review all these cases to establish the actual 
impact of incident on harm caused. 

- We have developed a process for sharing the 
learning and have held events across the Trust 
to ensure learning is shared from incidents. 

- We have improved the response and 
turnaround times of Serious incidents but still 
have further work to embed to continue to meet 
our turnaround times. 

- We have achieved our goal with ensuring that 
the Being Open/Duty of Candour process has 
been established and for incidents involving 
significant harm, a Duty of Candour discussion 
is performed and /or letter is sent. This is 
assessed for all cases and is based on the 
situation at the time. No known breaches of the 
statutory Duty of Candour have occurred.   

   

3.1.2. (ii) Reducing the 
incidence of avoidable 
harm 
 
 

- Reduce the 
incidence of events 
where harm was 
avoidable 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
- MRSA bacteraemia 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- We partially achieved this. 
- For 2014-2015 there were 3 Never Events 

compared to 3 Never Events in 2013-2014. 
Each of the incidents was different to those 
which occurred in 2014-2015. However, two 
were very similar in nature for the 2014-2015 
reporting period in that they were related to 
retained foreign objects post procedure. These 
have been thoroughly investigated and the 
learning shared across the organisation and 
between teams 

 
- We did not achieve this.  

For 2014-2015 the Trust had three cases of 
MRSA bacteraemia which were attributable to 
the Trust. One case occurred when a blood 
culture taken in paediatric emergency 
department was deemed to be a contaminant. 
The root cause analysis in conjunction with the 
Health Protection Manager on behalf of the 
CCG has found no lapses in care (This baby 

Page 100



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Incidence of newly 
acquired Pressure 
Ulcers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Incidence of 
medication errors 
causing serious 
harm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Incidence of falls 
resulting in harm 
 

was identified as having a PVL MRSA as was 
other members of its family). 

 

The second case was related to an oncology 
patient who was admitted from Outpatients and 
was found to be MRSA positive five days 
following admission. The patient did have a 
history of chronic cytopenia and was considered 
to have had a transient colonisation as a result 
of his prolonged immune-compromised state. 
The investigation found that the likely source 
was a cannula site although the cannula site 
remained clear with no signs of infection. The 
root cause analysis found that this was an 
unavoidable case and found no lapses in care, 
but indeed commended the care provided. 
 
The third case was associated with an infected 
arterial line and there was also a delay in 
reporting a positive MRSA screen by the 
laboratory. Changes in practice with regards to 
documenting the VIP observations for the 
arterial lines and work has been identified to 
ensure laboratory staff are aware of the process 
for flagging results with consultant 
microbiologists in a timely manner. 
 
 
 
 
The Trust has achieved significant progress 
towards reducing the number of newly hospital 
acquired grade 3 pressure ulcers and has 
reduced the number from 53 in 2013/14 to 40 in 
2014/15.For grade 4 pressure ulcers the 
incidence has remained the same for 2013/14 
there were 4 newly hospital acquired and in 
014/15 there were 4. The Trust is continuously 
working towards reducing hospital acquired 
pressure ulcers and as well as feature as part of 
our Sign Up to Safety Plan, the Trust reviews all 
pressure ulcers incidence on a weekly basis in 
a joint collaborative with our local CCGs. 
 
 
 

 For 2014-15 there was 1 medication error 
identified in October 2014 which has potentially 
caused severe harm. The incident occurred in 
April 2011 and related to a baby born to a 
mother known to be hepatitis B reactive, who 
correctly received the hepatitis B vaccine shortly 
after the birth, but the immunoglobulin which the 
baby should also have received was 
inadvertently omitted. 
 
 

 For 2014-15 there were a total of 39 falls 
resulting in moderate, severe harm and/ or 
death. 32 falls were judged as resulting in 
moderate harm and 7 falls resulting in severe 

Page 101



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

harm and/or death. 
 
The Trust has developed and launched it Falls 
Strategy throughout 2014/15 and introduced 
Falls Champions across the Trust. 
All inpatient falls resulting in moderate, severe 
harm or death are investigated.  Where the 
outcome for a patient has been a fracture, head 
injury or death a root cause analysis is carried 
out to find out whether there were any care 
management problems and to identify any 
learning points.  The patient and / or their family 
are offered feedback about the findings and any 
changes being made to help reduce harm to 
future patients.  All lessons learnt are reviewed 
by the Trust’s Falls Prevention and 
Management sub group of the Aspiring to 
Excellence Programme and progress is 
reported to the Trust’s Outcomes With Learning 
Group. 
 

   

3.1. 2(iii) Improving 
Maternity Services 
 

- Reduction in admission 
of full term babies to 
neonatal care 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Reduction in emergency 
caesarean section rates 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 This was a new indicator which we 
commenced recording in April 2014. 

 The number of term admissions to 
the Neonatal Unit are documented monthly 
on our maternity scorecard for each site. 
This number varies between site and it is 
important for us to understand the reasons 
for this. We are planning to review all NNU 
admission weekly with a multidisciplinary 
team to have a greater understanding of 
reasons for admission as well as a review of 
the antenatal and intrapartum management 
to see if different management could have 
reduced the need for admission.  

  
 
 
 
 

- The Trust has achieved a reduction in total 
caesarean section rate from 29.0% in 
2013/14 to 27.05% in 2014/15. This is slightly 
above that of the national rate which is 
26.2%. 
 
The emergency caesarean section rate has 
also reduced across the Trust and is 
currently 16% compared to 18.0% in 
2013/14. 
 
All caesarean section births are audited by a 
Consultant and presented at regular audit 
meetings. Monthly workshops are held to 
increase and promote normality in labour. 
Regular training and masterclasses in CTG 
Interpretation have also been established. 
All areas identified from the regular audits 
are shared across the services. 
 

 

Page 102



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

- Increase in number of 
breastfed babies 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

- This has been achieved across the Trust and 
across each acute site. In 2013/14 the 
average breast feeding initiation rate was 
81.9%.Through the focused work of the 
midwifery department and using peer support 
workers, the breast feeding initiation rate has 
increased to 86.5% and more work is 
continuing through 2015/16. 

   

3.1.2. (iv) Delivering Safe 
Care to Children in Acute 
settings 
 

- Reduction in incidence 
of harm to children due 
to failure to monitor 

- We have achieved this. 
There were no cases of harm to children 
where failure to monitor has been identified 
as a root cause or contributory factor during 
2014 – 15. 

 

  

Page 103



 

 

3.1.3 Priority 3 Clinical Effectiveness 

Our quality priorities and 
why we chose them 
 

  What success will look 
   like 

How did we do? 

3.1.3(i) Reducing 
premature mortality and 
increased survival rates 
from lung and colorectal 
cancer with early detection 
 
The national screening 
campaigns for bowel and 
lung cancers in the last two 
years saw a positive impact 
on the numbers of patients 
requesting screening. For 
2014-2015, the Trust will 
continue to extend the age 
range for bowel cancer 
screening to 75 years in line 
with the Cancer Reform 
Strategy for the borough 
populations of Lewisham, 
Greenwich, 
 

- Increase in number of 
patients being screened 
for Bowel and Lung 
Cancer 

- Continue the extension 
of age range for 
screening to 75 years 

- We have achieved this for the Bowel Cancer 
screening, however, the increase is marginal 
with the number increasing from 744 patients in 
2013/14 to 751 patients in 2014/15. However 
the age extension has been achieved from 
March 2015. The Screening Centre is presently 
in the process of implementing a new service 
known as Bowel Scope Screening. GP 
registered 55 year olds will be offered a one off 
procedure called a flexible sigmoidoscopy. Over 
the next two years, LGT will continue to offer 
bowel cancer screening to the boroughs of 
Lewisham, Greenwich, Bromley and Bexley. 
Additionally from 2015, BSS will be rolled out 
incrementally to these boroughs. It is envisaged 
the service will extend delivery of bowel 
screening to the Queen Elizabeth Hospital in 
line with service development plans 
underway for its Endoscopy Unit. 

 
- We have also seen the increase in the number 

of patients being screened for suspected lung 
cancer with an increase in 10,605 radiological 
investigations from the previous year. 

 

- A crucial activity for cancer services in 2015/6 is 
to review all cancer pathways focussing on 
delivery of a timed pathway mapped against 
best practice.  This will be a multi-disciplinary 
process and will support all specialities to 
improve their current performance.  It is 
anticipated improved performance will be 
realised during Q2.  Included in this work will be 
improving timely access to treatments whether 
provided at the cancer centres, Guys and St 
Thomas’s and Kings College Hospitals or locally 
as well as embedding 6 day a week opening of 
our chemotherapy unit at Queen Elizabeth site. 

- Another key focus will be the delivery of the 
survivorship agenda.  This includes 
implementation of the Cancer Recovery 
Package comprising of Holistic Needs 
assessment (HNA), End of Treatment 
Summaries (EoT) and Health and Well Being 
Events (HWBE), Stratified Follow Up pathways 
and development of a comprehensive 
psychological support service.  This work builds 
on work already being taken forward and will 
increase the number of patients benefiting for 
this support.   

   

3.1.3 (ii)Reduce mortality 
rates amenable to 
healthcare 
 
 

- Establishment of new 
process for Trust and 
speciality review of all 
in-hospital deaths 

- Continued Trust level 
reporting for Mortality 

- The Trust has achieved its set outcome 
measures, and the Trust mortality rate as 
calculated by SHMI is ‘As expected’ (pp. 19). 
However, the rate has increased and a 
significant review into understanding the 
rationale for the increase is underway across 

Page 104



 

 

rates amenable to 
healthcare 

the Trust. 
- The Trust has established a Trust wide Mortality 

Review committee which reviews and monitors 
monthly mortality trend figures both internally 
collated and externally published data. 

 
        The Group ensures: 
- That possible adverse trends are discussed and 

undertake further investigation into mortality and 
morbidity trends where this is indicated.  

- actions are taken to embed learning, 
triangulated with other quality measures (e.g. 
complaints, adverse incident and patient 
feedback). 

 
- The Trust focus on Sepsis, Acute Kidney Injury 

and deteriorating patients and reducing 
avoidable deaths forms a key part of our sign up 
to safety plans and a key area to improve 
outcomes. These are also national CQUINs for 
2015/16.  

-  
   

3.1.3 (iii) Improving 
outcomes and total health 
gain as assessed by 
patients for planned 
treatments [PROMS] 

- Improvement in 
PROMS scores (health 
gain) for the Trust for 
the identified 
procedures 

 
 

- Improvement in patient 
satisfaction scores for 
surgical patients 

- Roll out of review 
processes at Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital site 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Learning from reviews 
of patient level data 

- Throughout 2014/2015 Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust has been monitoring 
the adjusted average health gain for patients 
based on the PROMS data (please see 
pp.21 for PROMS health gain data).  

 
 

- In 2014/2015, The Trust monitored patient 
satisfaction using the Department of Health 
Friends and Family Test question ‘How Likely 
would you be to recommend this service to 
your friends and family?’ Overall 91% of in-
patients on the six surgical inpatient wards 
reported that they were ‘Extremely Likely’ or 
‘Likely’ to recommend the service.  

 
 

Patients also reported an increase in 
satisfaction when asked about whether they 
found members of staff to talk about their 
worries and fears with, and whether they 
were involved in decisions about their 
treatment and care. Overall in 2014/2015 
more patients felt they were treated with 
respect and dignity during their stay in 
hospital when compared with the same 
period in 2013/2014. 

 
 

- Patient level PROMS data has been shared 
with relevant key stakeholders in a timely 
manner upon publication. Where patients 
reported deterioration in one of the four 
clinical procedures, these patients have been 
highlighted to Clinicians for review. The 
Clinical Effectiveness Team provides the 
patient level data to the Clinicians and 
individual case reviews are undertaken 
where patients reported a ‘worse outcome’ 
and have consented to share their 

Page 105



 

 

responses, a review is undertaken to 
understand the reason for the deterioration 
 
The learning from these reviews is 
summarised below: 
 
Groin Hernia 
 
The review of patient cases identified that 
patients were discharged home on the same 
day or the next day following surgery and 
were followed up directly by their GP. In 
some instances patients underwent two 
procedures to repair right and left sided groin 
hernias over a staggered period of time. This 
may be a contributing factor in patients who 
reported a worse outcome. 
 
 
Knee Replacements  
 
Following knee replacement surgery, the 
patients reviewed were seen an average of 
twice in outpatient clinics and discharged 
from care with no further follow up required. 
The reviews identified one patient who 
reported deterioration in mobility and this 
patient underwent a repeat procedure to 
improve their Range Of Movement (ROM) 
and was provided with a further course of 
physiotherapy treatment to improve their 
mobility further.  
 
 
Varicose Vein 
 
Case notes reviewed for Varicose Vein 
surgery identified that patients often 
underwent a second procedure for treatment 
of veins in the other leg at a later stage. 
When followed up in outpatient clinic they 
reported satisfaction with the procedure and 
were discharged from follow up care. 

-  
   

3.1.3. (iv) Dementia – 
Improving the diagnosis, 
treatment and quality of 
life in a long term 
condition (Domain 2 of 
NHS Outcomes 
Framework) 

- Increased number of 
patients being screened 
for dementia 

- Increased numbers of 
patients being risk 
assessed for dementia 

- Increased numbers of 
patients being referred 
for specialist diagnosis 

- Increased use of locally 
developed ‘Dementia 
Passport’ for patients 
across both hospital 
sites 

- Education and training 
of staff with Dementia 
Training Programme 

- Carer experience and 

- We achieved this, with 100% of all eligible 
patients being screened and risk assessed for 
dementia and increased numbers being 
referred for specialist diagnosis. 

- The Dementia Team work across the Trust and 
have introduced a number of initiatives 
throughout the year to improve Dementia 
Services for patients. A pathway for Dementia 
patients has been developed and implemented 
across the Trust to ensure a consistent 
approach to improving Dementia care 

- The Dementia Passport is being used across 
the Trust and within the Community. 

- The Introduction of a Dementia Friendly ward 
on our QEH site has also seen improved patient 
and carer feedback via our Carer’s Surveys 
which have been introduced across the Trust 
along with our Dementia Carer ‘Drop in’ 

Page 106



 

 

satisfaction survey and 
learning from results 

Sessions. 
- We have developed a comprehensive Dementia 

Training Programme for all levels of staff and 
have trained over 1000 staff at all levels in 
Dementia Awareness and Dementia care. 

- The Trust has also developed plans for creating 
its own Dementia Champions network which will 
commence in May 2015 during Dementia 
Awareness Week 

 

Page 107



 

 

 
 
3.1.4 Priority 4 Patient Experience 

Our quality priorities and 
why we chose them 
 

  What success will look 
   like 

How did we do? 

3.1.4 (i) Increased 
response rate for Friends 
and Family Test in hospital 
and roll out to community 
and outpatient services. 
 
 
This was a National 
Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation (CQUIN) 
target in 2014/15.  The aim 
was to ensure that more 
people had the opportunity 
to provide feedback about 
the quality of care that they 
had received. 

-  Continued roll out of 
the Friends and 
Family Test in 
outpatient 
departments and 
community 

- Continue to improve 
response rates from 
all areas 

- We have achieved this. 
We have ensured that all of our community 
and outpatient services are involved in the 
Friends and Family test.  All services have a 
bespoke plan to ensure that patients have 
the opportunity to provide feedback using this 
simple test and many services are now 
receiving responses from patients.  We are 
reviewing all the comments and suggestions 
that patients have made about their care and 
talking to service leads about how these 
comments can be used to help to continually 
improve quality. 
 

- As well as ensuring that more services have 
the Friends and Family Test, we have made 
sure that services that already had it in place 
are getting more responses back from 
patients.  The national CQUIN set a target 
response rate of 30% in adult inpatient wards 
and 20% in Accident and Emergency 
departments by the end of March 2015.  We 
achieved that target. 

   

3.1.4. (ii) Improving the 
quality of end of life care. 
 
The Department of Health 
decided to phase out the 
national Liverpool Care 
Pathway (LCP) for the care 
of the dying. As a result the 
Trust planned to introduce 
individualised end of life care 
plans. The Trust End of Life 
Care Working Group 
developed ‘Principles of 
Care for Dying Patients’. 
This was intended to support 
clinicians in the development 
of end of life care plans. 
We planned an education 
and training programme to 
support end of life care 
across the organisation. 

- Removal of Liverpool 
Care Pathway for 
end of life care 
patients 

- Introduction of 
Principles of Care for 
Dying Patients  

-  Introduction of a 
bereavement survey 

- We partially achieved this 
- Removal of the Liverpool Care Pathway for 

end of Life Care patients Following the 
Independent review of the Liverpool Care 
Pathway (LCP) published in July 2013 which 
recommended the phasing out of the 
pathway, the Trust stopped using the 
pathway on 28th April 2014.  The 
documentation was removed from the Trust 
intranet and all existing paper documentation 
was removed from wards and departments. 
 
Introduction of Principles of Care for Dying 
Patients 

- On 28th April 2014 the Trust introduced the 
‘Principles of Care for dying patients’ to 
support the multi-disciplinary team in 
developing individualised end of life care 
plans for patients identified as being in the 
last days / hours of life.  The document 
outlines 6 Principles that should be 
considered when patients are being identified 
as likely to be in the last days/hours of life. 
The principles are consistent with existing 
guidance from NHS England and informed by 
guidance released by the London Cancer 
Alliance (LCA) 
. 

- Introduction of bereavement survey 
The trust is developing a bereavement survey based 
on the National Cancer voices Survey tool and 

Page 108



 

 

methodology.  A working group has been formed to 
lead this work.  The Trust has permission to use the 
tool and is currently working through the 
methodological issues.  It is planned to undertake the 
survey in 2015. 

   

3.1.4 (iii) Priority 3 – 
Improving women’s’ 
experience of 
postnatal care. 
 
The National Survey of 
Maternity Services showed 
womens’experience of 
postnatal care during 
February 2013 at both 
hospitals was worse than at 
other Trusts. 
As a result of these findings, 
the maternity department 
developed an action plan for 
improvement. 

- .Develop and 
implement action plan 
for improving postnatal 
experience of women 
who use the services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
- Measure and monitor 

the hospital postnatal 
net promoter scores for 
maternity Friends and 
Family and improve 
scores 

- Both maternity sites carried out a Friends 
and Family test thematic review of quarters 1 
and 2 and developed site and ward specific 
action plans. 

- Both sites reported issues with 
communication, especially around attitude of 
staff and conflicting advice being given to 
new parents.  

- Actions taken on the QEH site: greater 
scrutiny of information given to new parents 
by the Senior lead midwife on the ward. 
Complaints are shared during the daily ‘take 
5 sessions’; a news bulletin shared with all 
members of staff on a daily basis. 

- Actions taken on the UHL site: implemented 
a daily ‘ward huddle’ in addition to the daily 
‘take 5 sessions’. The huddle celebrates 
good care, communication and feedback but 
it also addresses themes from FFT and 
complaints so that staff can reflect and 
explore solutions to these issues. 
 

- Both sites reported issues around the ward 
environment: 

 
- Actions taken on the QEH site: electronic 

beds have been delivered to the postnatal 
ward. The postnatal ward is part of the rolling 
programme for decoration and is due to be 
painted this year. An application to improve 
the day room has been submitted to the 
Charitable funds committee 

- Actions taken on the UHL site: The ward has 
been deep cleaned and the maintenance 
cleaning programme has been changed to 
reflect the high number of patients and staff 
that use the environment daily. The estates 
department has agreed to a full re-decoration 
of the ward this year. All bathrooms on the 
postnatal and antenatal wards were re-
decorated in the summer of 2014. 

 
- The net promoter scores for FFT were 

phased out in 2014 and a recommendation 
basis was used for the FFT. The FFT scores 
on both sites are reported monthly and show 
that less than 3% of women would not 
recommend our service.   

   

3.1.4 (v) – Improving the 
way in which we manage 
and learn from complaints 
 
We wanted to improve 
complaint response times by 
reviewing complaints 
management processes 
within the clinical divisions. 

- We can demonstrate 
complaint response 
monitoring and 
reporting of response 
times 

 
 
 
 

- We have partially achieved this with some 
Divisions reaching their target. Complaints 
response times remain a challenge for the 
Trust particularly highly complex complaints. 
The Trust has now developed a pathway for 
the management of cross divisional and 
highly complex complaints which we hope 
will help in improving our responses. 
Complaint response monitoring is an on-

Page 109



 

 

We wanted to ensure robust 
learning from complaints is 
shared across the 
organisation. 
 
The Trust chose these 
priorities as each complaint 
provides us with valuable 
feedback which enables us 
to learn and embed service 
changes throughout the 
organisation. We also 
wanted to ensure that people 
are aware of how they can 
make a complaint and that 
they will be supported during 
the process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
- We can also show 

demonstrate that we 
learn from complaints 
and use them to inform 
service improvements 
and changes in practice 

going process and the PALS unit produces a 
weekly report detailing all open complaints 
which is circulated to the appropriate 
divisions.  The report is also discussed at the 
Monthly complaints steering committee. The 
Trust also reports on response times on a 
monthly basis and this is monitored by the 
Trust board. 
 

- Learning and service improvements resulting 
from complaints are recorded and discussed 
at the complaints steering committee.  Some 
examples are: 

Ø Purchasing wheelchairs to be used 
by visitors on the Lewisham site. 

Ø A review of the administrative 
processes surrounding appointments 
to reduce the number of 
appointments where patients do not 
attend 

Ø Patients on the maternity ward can 
have one person stay with them 
overnight. 

 
   

 

 

Page 110



 

 

3.2 INVOLVEMENT 
 
Overview 
 
Who has been involved? 
 
The Trust has consulted widely about the content of this Quality Account, namely the Trust Board, 
senior nursing, midwifery, clinical and managerial staff, patients and the public. The Patient’s 
Welfare Forum, the local Healthwatch organisations have also been consulted. 
We have also been able to consult and gain feedback from three local Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and our Clinical Quality Review Group. 
 
Feedback has also been requested from the local Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
 
The Trust has consulted widely about the content and the final version will incorporate all 
comments, being published at the end of June 2015. 
 
The Trust Board 
 
The Trust Board has been actively involved in setting the quality priorities for the Trust.  Items on 
quality are discussed at every Board meeting and at frequent Board seminars.  This year has seen 
the introduction of the Quality Account indicators being introduced onto the Trust scorecards which 
have been presented and discussed through the Integrated Governance reports to the Trust 
Board.  
The Trust Board is also presented with a performance scorecard which is examined at every Board 
meeting to assess trends in performance and highlight any issues of concern.  In addition, Board 
members undertake quality walk rounds, visiting clinical departments to better understand, in an 
informal setting, any issues that the staff feel could affect the quality and safety of services they 
deliver.   
 
Staff 
 
The Trust’s Management Executive, which comprises the Chief Executive, the Medical Director, 
the Deputy Medical Director for Quality and Safety, the Executive Directors, the Director of 
Business Development, the Director of IT and the Six Divisional Directors have been involved in 
discussions around and provision of information for the Quality Account..   
 
Key leads and stakeholders from within each of the Six Clinical Divisions have contributed to the 
content, the setting of priorities, and agreement of the key outcome measures and have provided 
the commitment to lead on each of the key priorities for 2015 – 2016. 
 
The Trust Integrated Governance Committee, Quality and Safety Committee and Patient 
Experience Committee, which have Executive, Non-Executive, Clinical Team members, Patient 
Welfare Forum members and members of our local Healthwatch, have the Quality Account as a 
standing agenda item and valuable input has been received from these committees. 
 
The Divisional Governance and Risk meetings have also been used to consult widely on the 
Quality Accounts with Divisional Governance, Risk and Audit Leads participating in the review of 
the priorities. 
  

Page 111



 

 

3.3 STATEMENTS FROM CLINICAL COMMISSIONERS, LOCAL 
HEALTHWATCH AND Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
 

 
 

i) Commissioners/ Clinical Commissioning Group [CCG] 
 
 
To be added in on receipt 
 
 
 

ii) Overview Scrutiny Committee 

 
 

To be added in on receipt 
 
 
 

iii) Healthwatch 
 

 
To be added in on receipt 
 
 
 

iv) Patient Welfare Forum [PWF] University Hospital Lewisham) 

 
 

 
The Patient Welfare Forum (PWF) is made up of a group of volunteers that hold a 
number of unannounced inspection visits across wards and departments based at 
Lewisham hospital and have representatives at numerous official  hospital meetings. 
 
We are supported by The Trust Authorities but are independent of the hospital. This 
gives us the freedom to liaise with patients and staff and the ability to bring to the 
Trust’s notice any issues that come to our attention. 
 
Our visits are conducted on the basis of ‘how would we feel’ if we came to this ward 
now, i.e. “is it clean, calm, welcoming, is the bedding clean, is there something tasty for 
me to eat”. We talk to the patients about their hospital experience, ask if they have 
enough to drink and are generally comfortable. 
 
We pay attention to issues such as hand hygiene, notice boards, Pals leaflets and 
others.  
The PWF members participate in the annual PLACE inspections, contributing to the 
scoring of PLACE score sheets.  
 
We see ourselves as a critical friend to the Trust, and we are the eyes, ears and voice 
of the patient.  Our comments are received positively and generally acted upon within 
the constraints of the organisation.   

 
 
 

(v)  Patient User Group Queen Elizabeth Hospital 

Page 112



 

 

 
 

 To be added in on receipt 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 113



 

 

 
3.4. EXTERNAL AUDIT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT TOTHE DIRECTORS 
OF LEWISHAM AND   GREENWICH NHS   TRUST   ON   THE ANNUAL QUALITY 
ACCOUNT 
 
To be added in on receipt 
 

3.5  STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF 
THE QUALITY ACCOUNT  

 
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare a Quality Account for each 
financial year. The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual 
Quality Accounts (which incorporates the legal requirements in the Health Act 2009 and the 
National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended by the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Amendment Regulations 2011).  
 
In preparing the Quality Account, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:  
 

 the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the trust’s performance over the `period 
covered;  

 

 the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;  
 

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 
performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to 
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;  

 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is   
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, 
and is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and  

 

 the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health guidance.  
 
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the Quality Account.  
 
By order of the Board  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair     Date 
 
 
 

 
Chief Executive   Date  

Page 114



 

 

3.6  FEEDBACK 
 
Should you wish to provide the Trust with feedback on the Quality Account or make suggestions 
for content for future reports, please contact: 
 
The Head of Communications, 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 
Waterloo Block, 
University Hospital Lewisham, 
Lewisham High Street, 
London SE13 6LH. 
 
Telephone: 020 8333 3297 
Email: communications.lewisham@nhs.net 
Web:www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk 

Page 115



 

 

 
APPENDIX 1 –  FULL LIST OF LOCAL AUDITS REVIEWED DURING 2014-2015 
 
To Be added 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 116



 

 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item  8 

Class Part 1 (open) 25 June 2015 

 
1. Purpose 
 
 To advise Members of the proposed work programme for the municipal year 

2015/16, and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting.  
 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the municipal year, each select committee drew up a draft work 

programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration. 
 
2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each of the 

select committees on 28 April 2015 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and 
scrutiny work programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each 
Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority 
items and remove items that are no longer a priority. 

  
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

• note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme;  

• specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear on what they need to provide; 

• review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny. 

 
4. The work programme 
 
4.1 The work programme for 2015/16 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 21 

April 2015. 
 
4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 

Agenda Item 8

Page 117



 

 

which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s).  

 
 
5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 9 September 2015: 
 

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority Priority 
 

Lewisham Future 
Programme 

Standard item 
Active, healthy citizens, 
inspiring efficiency, 
effectiveness and equity 

High 

Public Health Annual 
Report 

Performance 
monitoring 

Active, healthy citizens Medium 

Re-investing Public 
Health savings 

Standard Item Active, healthy citizens Medium 

Care quality commission 
update 

Standard Item Active, healthy citizens High 

 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 

in the reports for these item, based on the outcomes the committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear on what they need to provide for the next 
meeting. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

Page 118



 

 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 

9. Date of next meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting is Wednesday 9 September 2015 
 
Background Documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

 

Page 119



Appendix A 
 

 

 

Page 120



Work item Type of item Priority
Strategic 

priority

Delivery 

deadline
21-Apr 25-Jun 09-Sep 14-Oct 12-Nov 13-Jan 02-Mar

Lewisham future programme Standard item High CP9 On-going Savings

Confirmation of Chair and Vice Chair Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

Select Committee work programme Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

SLaM specialist care changes Consultation High CP9 Apr

Health and social care integration Standard item Medium CP9 Apr

Healthwatch annual report Standard item Medium CP9 Jun

Development of the local market for adult social care 

services
Standard item Medium CP9 Oct

CQC update Standard review Medium CP9 Jun

Day centres consultation Standard review High CP9 Jun

Reinvesting Public Health savings Standard item Medium CP9 Sep

Public health annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Sep

LCCG commissioning intentions Standard review Medium CP9 Oct

Transition from children's to adult social care Standard review Medium CP9 Jun

Delivery of the Lewisham Health & Wellbeing priorities Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Lewisham hospital update Standard item Medium CP9 Nov

Leisure centre contract Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jan

Implementation of the Care Act Standard review Medium CP9 Jan

Community education Lewisham annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Mar

Adult safeguarding annual report Standard item Medium CP9 Mar

Campaign in Lewisham for Autism Spectrum Housing Information item Medium CP9 Mar

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account Standard item Medium CP9 Jun

Item completed

Item on-going 1) Tue 21 April 5) Thu

Item outstanding 2) Thur 25 June 6) Wed

Proposed timeframe 3) Wed 9 September 7) Wed

Item added 4) Wed 14 October

Healthier Communities Select Committee work programme 2015/16 Programme of work

Meetings

12 November

13 January

2 March

P
age 121



 

1 SCS 1 1 CP 1

2 SCS 2 2 CP 2

3 SCS 3 3 CP 3

4 SCS 4 4 CP 4

5 SCS 5 5 CP 5

6 SCS 6 6 CP 6

7 CP 7

8 CP 8

9 CP 9

10 CP 10

Active, healthy citizens

Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and 

equity 

Healthy, active and enjoyable Strengthening the local economy

Dynamic and prosperous Decent homes for all

Protection of children

Caring for adults and older people

Safer

Young people's achievement and 

involvement

Empowered and responsible Clean, green and liveable

Clean, green and liveable Safety, security and a visible presence 

Shaping Our Future: Lewisham's Sustainable 

Community Strategy 2008-2020
Corporate Priorities

Priority Priority

Ambitious and achieving Community Leadership

P
age 122



 

 

 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan July 2015 - October 2015 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent to Kevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 

P
age 123



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

May 2015 
 

Broadway Theatre Working 
Group 
 

Wednesday, 
24/06/15 
Council 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

December 2014 
 

Catford Town Centre CRPL 
Business Plan 2015/16 
 

Wednesday, 
24/06/15 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Constitutional Matters 
 

Wednesday, 
24/06/15 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Alan 
Hall, Chair of Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

 
  

 

March 2015 
 

Housing Strategy 
 

Wednesday, 
24/06/15 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2015 
 

Local Development 
Framework: Revised Local 
Development Scheme (version 
7) 
 

Wednesday, 
24/06/15 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2015 
 

Variation of contract for works 
at Forster Park Primary School 
 

Tuesday, 07/07/15 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 

 
  

 

P
age 124



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

Children and Young 
People 
 

June 2015 
 

Blackheath bye-laws 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
Consultation 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Redesignation of Children's 
Centres: feedback from 
consultation events 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Deferral of the expansion of Sir 
Francis Drake primary school 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Deptford Southern Housing: 
Appropiating land for Planning 
purposes 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 

 
  

 

P
age 125



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

  Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

May 2015 
 

Discretionary Licensing of the 
Private Rented Sector 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Disposal of Land Arcus 
Road/Chingley Close 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Enforcement Policy for Various 
Regulatory Functions 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Janet Daby, 
Cabinet Member 
Community Safety 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Financial Forecasts 2015-16 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Formal Designation of Crystal 
Palace & upper Norwood 
Neighbourhood Forum and 
Area 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 Governing Bodies Wednesday, Frankie Sulke, Executive   

P
age 126



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

 
 

Reconstitution St Mary 
Magdalen's Catholic Primary 
School 
 

15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

  

June 2015 
 
 

Homelessness Allocations 
Process 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Homeless Hostel Investment 
Programmes 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2016 to 2019/20 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Milford Towers Lease 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

New Local Plan for Lewisham 
first round of Public 
Consultation 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 

 
  

 

P
age 127



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

Deputy Mayor 
 

June 2015 
 
 

Parks bye-laws 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Response to Consultation - 
Remodelling Lewisham's Adult 
Day Services and Associated 
Transport 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Adoption of Rivers SPD 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Sheltered Housing Investment 
and improvement Programme 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2014 
 

Surrey Canal Triangle (New 
Bermondsey) - Compulsory 
Purchase Order Resolution 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 Voluntary Sector Wednesday, Aileen Buckton,   

P
age 128



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

 Accomodation Implementation 
Plan 
 

15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

  

January 2015 
 

Consultation on Potential 
Waste and Recycling 
Collections 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Award of New Block 
Contractural Arrangements for 
Nursing Homes 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

May 2015 
 

Children's Centres Contract 
Extension 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Deptford Lounge  Centre 
Management Contract 
Extension 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

P
age 129



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

June 2015 
 
 

Framework Agreement for 
Provision Supported Living 
Services to Adults with 
Learning Disabilities - 
Appointment to Framework 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Procurement of Primary care 
Dietetic Services 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Renewal of Framework 
Agreement for Tier 4 Services 
& Day Programmes for People 
with Substance Misuse 
 

Wednesday, 
15/07/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Janet Daby, 
Cabinet Member 
Community Safety 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Contract Award All Saints 
Primary School to admit 30 
additional pupils 
 

Tuesday, 28/07/15 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Extension to the contract with 
Turner & Townsend for the 
provision of Client-side 
support to the Places 
programme 
 

Tuesday, 28/07/15 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 

 
  

 

P
age 130



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

People 
 

May 2015 
 

Proposals by Archdiocese of 
Southwark St Winifred Infant 
School, St Winifred Junior 
School and Our Lady & St 
Philip Neri and inclusion in 
Capital Programme 
 

Wednesday, 
09/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Award of Resurfacing Contract 
 

Wednesday, 
09/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

House on the Hill Design & 
Build Contract Award 
 

Wednesday, 
09/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Award of Contract for works to 
expand Turnham Primary 
school 
 

Tuesday, 22/09/15 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Blackheath Bye-laws 
 

Wednesday, 
23/09/15 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 

 
  

 

P
age 131



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

June 2015 
 
 

Parks Bye-laws 
 

Wednesday, 
23/09/15 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Health and Social Care 
Information and Advice 
Strategy 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Revenue Budget Savings 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Dacre South Construction 
Contract Award 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Longfield Crescent 
Construction Contract Award 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 

 
  

 

P
age 132



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

 

June 2015 
 
 

Woodvale contract award 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

November 2014 
 

Award of Highways Public 
Realm Contract Coulgate 
Street 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Award of Homecare Contracts 
 

Wednesday, 
30/09/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

February 2015 
 

Review of Licensing Policy 
 

Wednesday, 
21/10/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Capital and Revenue Budget 
Monitorig 
 

Wednesday, 
11/11/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

February 2015 Review of Licensing Policy Wednesday, Aileen Buckton,   

P
age 133



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

  25/11/15 
Council 
 

Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

  

June 2015 
 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2016-17 
 

Wednesday, 
09/12/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 

Revenue Budget Savings 
 

Wednesday, 
09/12/15 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2016-17 
 

Wednesday, 
20/01/16 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

June 2015 
 
 

Capital and Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 
 

Wednesday, 
10/02/16 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

 P
age 134


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 April 2015
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Response from Mayor and Cabinet on matters raised by the Committee
	4 Transition from children's to adult services
	5 Healthwatch annual report 2014-15
	05 Healthwatch Annual Report 14-15 250615

	7 Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account 2014-15
	07 Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account

	8 Select Committee work programme
	Appendix B - work plan 250615
	Appendix C - key decision plan 250616


